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          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Good morning,

          3  everyone.

          4                 THE AUDIENCE: Good morning.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Oh, thank you.

          6  I thought I was talking to myself for a moment.  But

          7  anyway, it's a beautiful, beautiful day outside.

          8  It's supposed to be about 53 degrees and sunny and

          9  that's ideal.  I want to thank you all for coming

         10  this morning and this is a Fiscal Year 2008

         11  Preliminary Budget Hearing Committee on Education,

         12  discussing and asking questions about the five-year

         13  Capital Plan of the Department of Education, the

         14  Amendments to the Plan that were recently adopted by

         15  the Panel for Educational Policy, and we are today

         16  joined by Education officials and SCA officials that

         17  are going to brief us and give us some information

         18  and we can ask questions.

         19                 But let me just introduce my

         20  colleagues that are here this morning that have

         21  joined us.  Let me start in the front. Domenic

         22  Recchia of Brooklyn, and approaching the bench,

         23  Diana Reyna of Brooklyn, Oliver Koppell of the

         24  Bronx.  And I'm going to start to my right.  You're

         25  welcome.  Thank You. My colleague Simcha Felder of
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          2  Brooklyn, and my colleague Al Vann of Brooklyn, and

          3  my colleague Jimmy Vacca of the Bronx, and to my

          4  left, my colleague John Liu of Queens, my colleague

          5  Dan Garodnick of Manhattan, and last but not least

          6  at the moment, my colleague Melinda Katz of Queens.

          7  And we've also, as you know we're always here by the

          8  staff that help us to do our business, Sheherezade

          9  Salemi is the Counsel, she's seated immediately to

         10  my left, and we have Jan Atwell over there, she's a

         11  Policy Analyst and Regina Poreda Ryan, who is a

         12  Finance Policy Analyst and Nathan Toff and Sarah

         13  Morgan, who is my Executive Assistant and she knows

         14  more about capital than I do, along with Jeff Rotis

         15  from the Capital Division.

         16                 Good morning, everyone.  I think that

         17  this is a, in my opinion, a good day in that we are

         18  going to have the opportunity to discuss this

         19  separate and apart, whereas in previous years we've

         20  discussed it only one, so, it's good to separate

         21  expense from capital.  So, if you have any expense

         22  questions, then put those questions back in your

         23  pocket and save them for another time. We're going

         24  to talk about capital and the capital plan and, as

         25  you know, the five-year Capital Plan, we are in our
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          2  third year and the five-year Capital Plan of the

          3  Department of Education is approximately $13.1

          4  billion and, as you know, the major issue last year,

          5  around this time, was to get the commitment from the

          6  State of New York to fulfill its, what we felt was

          7  its obligation, was under CFE, the Campaign for

          8  Fiscal Equity, we, the City of New York, was

          9  expecting half of the $13.1 billion to come from the

         10  State, and in May of 2006 our former Governor Pataki

         11  signed legislation in order to have a finance

         12  agreement to allow the five-year Capital Plan to

         13  move forward with a commitment from the State and

         14  the City in order to finance the full and entire

         15  plan.

         16                 And so I was pleased at that

         17  particular moment, and to bring you up to date, my

         18  colleagues, if you're not aware, when the Department

         19  of Education announced the proposed amendment to the

         20  five-year Capital Plan recently, several months ago,

         21  they proposed to eliminate 3,000 seats from the

         22  five-year Capital Plan and those are spread

         23  throughout the City, but the main primary reason

         24  that was communicated with us was because the cost

         25  factor of materials and other stuff like that was
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          2  going up as one factor.  And if I'm mistaken they

          3  will then correct me when they give their opening

          4  statement or in any remarks that they have, but,

          5  3,000 seats are expected to be eliminated under

          6  their proposal.  And that's one of the reasons we're

          7  here today, because, obviously there's some

          8  disagreement with that and we're going to try to see

          9  whether or not we can get an understanding and get

         10  some clarity here.

         11                 But also, as you know, part of the

         12  process is that recommendations are made to the PEP

         13  and they approve the amended five-year Capital Plan

         14  in the normal course of doing business it comes to

         15  the City Council for, what I always consider a

         16  hearing and discussion on the amended five-year

         17  Capital Plan and with the expectation that in the

         18  finality of it all, with some other adjustments that

         19  an amended five-year Capital Plan will be approved.

         20  And so with that, I'd like to begin by introducing

         21  our first witnesses on behalf of the Department of

         22  Education.  We have Kathleen Grimm, the Deputy

         23  Chancellor for Finance and Administration and we

         24  have Sharon Greenberger, who is the President of the

         25  School Construction Authority and we have Jamie
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          2  Smarr, did I pronounce your name correctly, Jamie?

          3  Who is the Executive Director for the New York City

          4  Educational Construction Fund.

          5                 You can begin, any one of you.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Thank you

          7  very much, Chair Jackson, and members of the

          8  Committee on Education.  We're delighted to be

          9  spending this warm, sunny morning with you.  In

         10  order to discuss our five-year Capital Plan.  As you

         11  stated, we are in the third year of our $13.1

         12  billion five-year Capital Plan and the good news is

         13  that we have a plan that is now fully funded. With

         14  the state funding now in the plan, I am happy to

         15  report that we have been able to move forward on the

         16  design and construction of our capacity and

         17  improvement projects across the City.  This work

         18  will yield thousands of new seats and millions of

         19  dollars worth of building upgrades and much needed

         20  repairs to existing structures.

         21                 I want to talk a little bit about the

         22  process this year.  As always, we conducted our

         23  Annual Building Condition Assessment Surveys, BCAS

         24  as we finally refer to them, with architects and

         25  engineers visiting all of the schools, so that we
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          2  have a current and accurate picture of each school's

          3  need for repairs and upgrades.  We take this

          4  information and rate projects on a scale of one to

          5  five, one being the least critical, and the fours

          6  and fives being the most critical and requiring the

          7  most immediate attention.  We also did our annual

          8  demographic projections.  In addition to the Greer

          9  Report, we collected data on birth rates,

         10  immigration rates, housing starts, we worked with

         11  the Departments of Health and City Planning and

         12  other Agencies.  We have been watching population

         13  shifts in Brooklyn, Manhattan and the Bronx.  Some

         14  school districts showed a decrease in our school-

         15  aged population over the next five to ten years,

         16  while other districts show an increase.

         17                 This year, in this amendment, we

         18  adjusted the plan based on these population needs.

         19  I want to clarify, however, that the plan has in no

         20  way been cut.  There are still 66,000 seats, 63,000

         21  new capacity seats based on the demographic need and

         22  3,000 replacement seats.  All of these contribute to

         23  helping us meet our goal of totally eliminating

         24  overcrowding and, once all of the projects are in

         25  place, eliminating TCUs throughout the City.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So is that why

          3  you looked a little puzzled when I said elimination

          4  of 3,000 seats?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I hope we've

          8  clarified that.

          9                 One of our major recent

         10  accomplishments is finding locations for all the

         11  high school seats we need to eliminate overcrowding

         12  in the Bronx, Brooklyn and Staten Island.  In fact,

         13  at this point in the plan, we have identified

         14  locations for 45,562 of the overall new seat need.

         15  When we issued the November 2006 amendment, we made

         16  presentations to the Community Education Councils,

         17  the CECs, and also to parent and community groups

         18  and to elected officials, including many of you.  As

         19  a result of the feedback that we had from CECs in

         20  prior years, this year we devised a template, a

         21  form, for the CECs to fill out and we had them in

         22  for a training program.  We asked them to provide us

         23  with their CIP priorities.  In other words, if they

         24  would give us on this template, their requests,

         25  ranked in priority order.  We were then able to
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          2  include some of their suggestions in the February

          3  revised amendment and this is the first year that

          4  we've been able to actually turn around the

          5  information that we've gotten from the CECs in time

          6  for the February amendment.  Now not everything has

          7  been handled that way, some stuff has been triaged,

          8  some of it will be considered for the November, and

          9  some of it will be sent over to the facilities

         10  people because their not capital projects.  I do

         11  just want to make the point that this plan is an

         12  ongoing process and we will continue to look at

         13  suggestions on how to improve that process every

         14  year.

         15                 In the February 2007 amendment that

         16  we're considering today, there is another new

         17  element and that is the City's adoption of a Green

         18  Buildings Law, Local Law 86, which took effect in

         19  January.  We are in the process of finalizing our

         20  revised building standards, which incorporate the

         21  requirements of the New York City Green Schools

         22  rating system.  We commit to exceeding the

         23  requirements of Local Law 86 by meeting Green

         24  Standards not just for 50% of projects but for all

         25  applicable projects.  We are proud that New York
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          2  City will be among the first districts, and

          3  certainly the largest school district, in the nation

          4  to have sustainable school guidelines.  We applaud

          5  the Mayor and the Council for enacting this

          6  important legislation.

          7                 Also new in this amendment is the

          8  inclusion of Educational Construction Fund (ECF)

          9  projects.  The ECF is the Public Benefit

         10  Corporation, which was created by State Law in 1967.

         11  It was created to build school seats for New York

         12  City Public Schools.  ECF, headed by Jamie Smarr on

         13  my right, works with private developers to build

         14  schools on City owned land that are mixed use

         15  projects.  In ECF projects, the developer agrees to

         16  pay the cost of funding the new school construction

         17  in exchange for being able to develop the rest of

         18  the municipal site.  Thus, the cost of the school

         19  building is not borne by the City's capital funds.

         20  ECF adds to the capacity of the school system to

         21  build new school seats.  As such, ECF projects are

         22  now, for the first time, included as part of the

         23  capital plan as new seat capital production.  The

         24  ECF funding mechanism also allows us to build

         25  replacement seats, providing students with new state
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          2  of the art facilities.  ECF has been dormant in New

          3  York City for decades, but the first developer-

          4  financed school since 1979 is now under construction

          5  on the Upper East Side in Manhattan.  There are

          6  plans for additional projects adding 3,000 school

          7  seats over the next two to three years.

          8                 The goals of the plan are to

          9  eliminate overcrowding and to support the

         10  Department's instructional goals, such as new

         11  science labs, technology upgrades, smaller learning

         12  communities, preK expansion, and reduction of class

         13  size.  You have all heard me say that we are

         14  committed to managing this plan so as best keep it

         15  aligned with our instructional goals and our needs.

         16  That is why we committed to amending the plan each

         17  year.  It why we do annual building surveys and

         18  demographic projections.  It is why we seek comment

         19  and input from the CECs, the Panel and all elected

         20  officials.

         21                 Feedback from the CECs, parent and

         22  community groups, and elected officials has been

         23  very, very helpful in shaping our direction.  Now

         24  that we are halfway through this plan, it's also

         25  time to begin to think about our priorities for the
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          2  next capital plan.  We look forward to working with

          3  you and all stakeholders as we move forward.

          4                 Before we take questions, Sharon

          5  Greenberger has a very brief presentation which I

          6  think will help people visualize some of the

          7  components of the plan.  So, thank you very much for

          8  your attention and, Sharon, could you...

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         10                 MS. GREENBERGER: Thank you and good

         11  morning to you all.  This first slide gives you an

         12  overview of the allocation of funds in the three

         13  primary program components of the plan.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Ms. Greenberger,

         15  can you hold on one second, please, if you don't

         16  mind.  Hold on one second.

         17                 MS. GREENBERGER: We'll go back.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I was asking

         19  whether or not we had that in front of us because

         20  it's difficult for members to see from that

         21  perspective.

         22                 MS. GREENBERGER: We don't have this

         23  but we can certainly get you copies of it.  I can

         24  walk through it, as well, and give you some of the

         25  numbers.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Before you do

          3  that, though, we've been joined by other members of

          4  the City Council.  Letitia James of Brooklyn, to my

          5  right and Peter Vallone, Jr. Of Queens, to my right.

          6    Okay.

          7                 MS. GREENBERGER: So, very briefly,

          8  again, this gives you an allocation by program

          9  component.  In this proposed amendment, we've

         10  allocated $3.7 billion to restructuring school

         11  space, which is one of the program components, about

         12  $4.5 billion to new capacity or the new line

         13  projects and $5.3 billion to investing in existing

         14  assets, which is the capital improvement program and

         15  projects that are in our existing buildings.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Billion or

         17  million?

         18                 MS. GREENBERGER: This gives you a

         19  quick overview of what we've spent to date.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Excuse me one

         21  second, it said million up on the board, but you

         22  were saying billion.

         23                 MS. GREENBERGER: It's billion.  Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         25                 MS. GREENBERGER: This gives you a
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          2  sense of what we have spent to date.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm sorry,

          4  Sharon, can  -- Sergeant at Arms, can, Sergeant, can

          5  we move the screen like over there and just

          6  projection so that my colleagues will have an

          7  opportunity to see, if you don't mind?  Can we just

          8  take one minute to do that, if you don't mind?

          9                 MS. GREENBERGER: Sure.  A little

         10  crooked but the information is straight.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, that's

         12  much better.

         13                 MS. GREENBERGER: Okay.  Good.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         15                 MS. GREENBERGER: So again, this gives

         16  you an overview of  --  let me just make sure I'm on

         17  the right page.  I'll start again.  A quick overview

         18  of the allocation by category.  $3.7 billion toward

         19  restructuring school space, $4.5 billion towards new

         20  capacity and $5.3 billion towards investing in our

         21  existing schools.  This gives you a highlight of

         22  what has been spent to date.  $2.2 billion in the

         23  Fiscal Year 2005 and $1.8 billion in the Fiscal Year

         24  2006, for a total of $4 billion spent in the first

         25  two years of the plan, leaving $9 billion to spent
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          2  in the remaining three.

          3                 Going forward, we anticipate spending

          4  about roughly $3 billion per year over the next

          5  three years, and again this gives you a sense of how

          6  those monies will be allocated by category.  You see

          7  the greatest increase in capacity next year when we

          8  anticipate the award of more capacity projects.

          9  This gives you a sense of where we are in terms of

         10  the capacity seats that are in construction or

         11  completed to date.  It's designed to give you a

         12  sense of when we will see those seats coming on

         13  line.  So if you look in the year 2008, next year,

         14  I'm sorry, 2007, you'll see 3,600 coming on line,

         15  2009 we'll see 10,000 coming on line, in the years

         16  2009 and 2010 there's roughly 10,000 seats per year

         17  and in 2011 2,300 seats coming on line.  Those are

         18  the part of the 63,000 seats.

         19                 This chart gives you a sense of where

         20  we stand in terms of delivering seats for PS/IS

         21  seats.  Again, we had a total of 63,000 seats to

         22  site, we have sited 21,000 seats, we've sited or

         23  completed 60% of all PS/IS seats.  We do have seat

         24  need still to site in Bronx, Brooklyn and Queens, we

         25  are almost done entirely with siting of seats in
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          2  Manhattan and Staten Island.

          3                 As the Deputy Chancellor indicated

          4  earlier, we have done a tremendous job in terms of

          5  siting and completing high school seats.  At this

          6  point, we only have 2,600 seats, high school seats,

          7  to be sited in Queens.  That means we have sited or

          8  completed 90% of the 26,000 high school seats

          9  needed.

         10                 One of the things we wanted to do

         11  today was to give you graphic representation of how

         12  we arrive at our capacity recommendations.  So this

         13  is a three- part chart.  The first really talks

         14  about the supply of seats.  To understand how we

         15  arrive at those numbers, let me just walk you

         16  through this.  We put out an annual facilities

         17  survey, this is our room use survey that Principals

         18  complete.  Principals tell us how their rooms in

         19  their schools are used, we then determine an

         20  appropriate capacity based on that room use using

         21  the formulas in the blue book and we apply that same

         22  formula across the City, across all schools to

         23  arrive at a school capacity.  We take that school

         24  capacity and we pull out two important elements.  We

         25  pull out any seats that are generated through TCU
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          2  use, or through mini- buildings over twenty years

          3  because as the Deputy Chancellor mentioned, one of

          4  our goals is to eliminate the use of TCUs

          5  altogether.  So we pull that capacity out.  We also

          6  pull out the capacity that we would need to meet our

          7  early grade, K- 3, class size reduction mandates.

          8  So that's the supply side.

          9                 We then look at the demand side and

         10  we look at the actual enrollments of the schools, we

         11  look at census data, we look at birth data, we work

         12  with the Department of City Planning, we work with

         13  the Department of Buildings, with HPD, with a

         14  variety of City Agencies to understand what growth

         15  we're seeing, what enrollment projections we might

         16  see, and that creates a number that we call

         17  projected enrollment.  So you have the supply side

         18  on one side and the demand side on the other.  And

         19  then to arrive at the capacity recommendation, we

         20  really look at that gap between demand and supply so

         21  we have our demand number, we take away the supply

         22  number and that leaves us with a set of

         23  recommendations in terms of how many seats need to

         24  be created and where they need to be built.

         25                 So let me just give you a quick
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          2  example of how we might look at a school and arrive

          3  at a capacity recommendation for a school.  PS 34 in

          4  Queens, in District 29, has a capacity in its main

          5  building of 509 seats.  It has 80 students in TCUs

          6  and has 244 seats in the mini school building which

          7  is over 20 years old.  So, we take that number,

          8  which is 833, and we  --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr.

         10  Chairperson, just excuse me, could you just excuse

         11  me, could you just translate TCU for me?

         12                 MS. GREENBERGER: I'm sorry.

         13  Transportable Classroom Unit.  It's the trailers.

         14  You're right, I should have defined it. They do have

         15  air conditioning and many people like them because

         16  of that and they don't want to give them up because

         17  of that.  That's exactly right.

         18                 So again, we start with the overall

         19  capacity of 833 at a school like PS 34 in Queens, we

         20  remove the seats associated with either the TCU or

         21  the mini building, and we also reduce the number of

         22  seats that we would need to meet that K- 3 class

         23  size reduction and that generates a total of 386

         24  seats.  So we take the 833, we remove the 386, which

         25  really gives us a capacity count of 447 for that
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          2  school.  And that 447, then, is used as the school

          3  count when we look at the demand, take away the

          4  supply, which is part of the reason that you saw an

          5  increased seat need in District 29.     That gives

          6  you an overview of how we arrive at our capacity

          7  recommendations.

          8                 And with that I think we'll open it

          9  to questions.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: First, let me

         11  thank you for the presentation.  I've asked the

         12  staff of both offices to see if we can have that

         13  power point printed immediately so that members will

         14  have an opportunity to look at that and if they have

         15  any questions on the presentation that you made

         16  during the course of the hearing, we'll have an

         17  opportunity to ask questions.  So, I hope they can

         18  facilitate that and hopefully let's see how

         19  technology works in 20 minutes we have copies of the

         20  presentation in member's hands.  I have a

         21  flashlight, if necessary.  I'm sure other members

         22  have, too.

         23                 We've also been enjoined by Council

         24  Member in front to my left Council Member Miguel

         25  Martinez of Manhattan and directly in front of me
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          2  Council Member Maria del Carmen Arroyo of the Bronx.

          3  And with that, we're going to go straight to

          4  questions from members and my colleagues, this is

          5  not a one question rotation, so you may be pleased

          6  about that, but, I'm going to ask that, if you don't

          7  mind, my colleagues, two to three questions and so

          8  that we can move to each member, if you don't mind.

          9  Council Member John Liu and then followed by Council

         10  Member Melinda Katz.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chair.  I will try to be as succinct as possible.  I

         13  thank you very much for your testimony, Deputy

         14  Chancellor Grimm.  In your testimony, you mentioned,

         15  talked about the shortage of school seats in the

         16  coming years.  It's a little bit striking to me

         17  because just a few years ago, there was a huge

         18  amount of discussion about the projected shortage of

         19  school seats in Queens.  And yet, your testimony

         20  only mentions Brooklyn, Manhattan and the Bronx.

         21  You talked about population shifts over the next

         22  five to ten years in those Boroughs.  Is there no

         23  longer any additional need in Queens?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No.  Queens

         25  is one of our highest need areas.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Okay.  Maybe it

          3  was just  --

          4                 MS. GREENBERGER: I think she was

          5  speaking to where we have sited high school seats

          6  and didn't mention Queens because as you saw we

          7  still have seats to site in Queens.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right.  Okay.

          9  That's my real question.  What kind of need are we

         10  projecting in Queens for the next, we'll use your

         11  time frame, five to ten years?  And again, I'll

         12  repeat what had been talked about at length just

         13  about three years ago in the development of the

         14  five-year Capital Plan, which was that Queens was

         15  the only Borough, and correct me if I'm wrong, but

         16  at the time it was talked about at length that

         17  Queens was the only Borough to be projected to be

         18  short school seats in the coming years.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, there

         20  are seat needs in all Boroughs, certainly in Queens.

         21    For example, I have the PS/IS numbers.  We are

         22  siting 13,000 seats and in fact, in a couple of

         23  districts in this amendment we have added additional

         24  capacity in a couple based on the demographic shift,

         25  we've reduced the need. But, there's certainly a
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          2  great need in Queens.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: So, the five year

          4  capital plan, again, when we were all developing it

          5  between the department, the Mayor and the City

          6  Council, the concept was that the $13 billion

          7  five-year Capital Plan would finally address all of

          8  the needed seats in New York City.  Is that enough

          9  to take care of the shortages in Queens both present

         10  and projected?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.  We

         12  made a commitment, although the $13 billion doesn't

         13  cover all the various kinds of needs, capital needs

         14  we have, it does address the overcrowding, so that

         15  when all of these seats are in place, we will be

         16  able to remove the trailers and we will have reduced

         17  class size and provided additional preK.  But,

         18  absolutely the goal of this plan is to totally

         19  eliminate overcrowding throughout the City and we

         20  will monitor that each year.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Now, it's my

         22  understanding that Northern Queens has a severe

         23  shortage of high school seats.  Is that no longer

         24  the case or is that still  --

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We are still
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          2  looking for high school sites in Queens.  It's very

          3  very difficult, as you know --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And does the

          5  five-year Capital Plan anticipate any high school

          6  sites in Northern Queens?

          7                 MS. GREENBERGER: We anticipate siting

          8  an additional 2,600 seats in Queens.  We do look at

          9  high school seats across the Borough, but we

         10  understand the need in a particular area, so we have

         11  been looking, as I know you have been working with

         12  Lorraine to identify sites that would meet that

         13  need.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Right.  I look

         15  forward to continuing to working with you, Sharon,

         16  and Lorraine and, in fact, Bill Goldstein had, a

         17  number of years ago, asked me specifically, to help

         18  find sites in Northern Queens, particularly in the

         19  Flushing area, where we have tremendous overcrowding

         20  at Francis Lewis, John Baum and Newtown, thus

         21  necessitating designating some of them impact

         22  schools when, in fact, my understanding is the kids

         23  at those schools are very good, it's just that when

         24  you cram kids into schools like sardines, you're

         25  bound to have problems.  But again, there are no
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          2  high school sites yet determined.  And we're already

          3  three years into the capital plan.

          4                 MS. GREENBERGER: We're beginning work

          5  on Art & Leather, which will be a high school, which

          6  will relieve the overcrowding at Newtown.  That will

          7  open in September 08.  We're actually accelerating

          8  construction of that in part to meet the very

          9  immediate demand.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Looking forward

         11  to that.  What is this, the capacity of the new

         12  school?

         13                 MS. GREENBERGER: 1,600

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And the capacity

         15  currently at Newtown is about 4,000?

         16                 MS. GREENBERGER: I don't have that

         17  offhand.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: It's about 4,000

         19  so, I mean, I think 1,600 is a significant  --  does

         20  that mean that the Department is still open to the

         21  idea of creating high schools that are of

         22  substantial size?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         24                 MS. GREENBERGER: Yes.  As you know,

         25  we would look wherever we can and when we can find
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          2  sites, depending on their size, we will accommodate

          3  the number of students that we can.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: And finally, in

          5  Northern Queens, not only have we had this problem,

          6  this shortage of high school seats, for many years

          7  now, but as you know, in Northern Queens, or

          8  specifically in Northeast Queens, we now are

          9  shifting the middle school from seventh to ninth

         10  grade to sixth to eighth grade and so that is

         11  creating additional capacity available in the

         12  primary schools but worsening the overcrowding in

         13  the high schools.  So, once again, the need to build

         14  new high schools, not just shift around seats, I

         15  think a few weeks ago, I don't know if you were here

         16  or you had heard, there were some numbers being

         17  played in the testimony being provided by the people

         18  in charge of creating the small schools.  What we're

         19  looking for is real increases in the number of

         20  school seats.  In Northeast Queens, again, the high

         21  school overcrowding is going to be exacerbated

         22  because of the shift in the middle schools.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We couldn't

         24  agree with you more.  I would just comment that I

         25  don't think there was a numbers game last week in
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          2  terms of the testimony from the new schools people.

          3  I think maybe there was some misunderstanding around

          4  how people were defining things.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: I don't want to

          6  get into this at length, Deputy Chancellor, but,

          7  there absolutely was a numbers game and I don't

          8  think there was any misunderstanding because it was

          9  very clear that this, I don't even remember who was

         10  testifying about the small schools.  I don't think

         11  you were here but the statement was made very clear

         12  that, "oh, through this new small schools initiative

         13  we've created something like 11,000 new seats" when

         14  in fact, upon questioning, the person conceded that

         15  it wasn't 11,000 new seats, it was 11,000 seats in

         16  these new, small schools. Many of those seats were

         17  already available in current classrooms, in current

         18  schools.  And so, when the general public, including

         19  us, think of new school seats, we're not talking

         20  about seats in newly designated schools, we're

         21  talking about actual chairs in space in classrooms

         22  that people can sit in.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Point taken.

         24    We will be much more careful about how we

         25  articulate that in the future.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: We're not trying,

          3  we just need a clear understanding.  Well, that's

          4  fine.  In any event.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We need

          6  seats in Queens.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: We need those

          8  high school seats in Northern Queens.  Those schools

          9  are over crowded and I look forward to working with

         10  you and, I'm sorry Mr. Chair, one final, final

         11  question.  Does the administration, is the

         12  administration open to eminent domain to secure

         13  those sites?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: The, we do

         15  have the ability to use eminent domain.  Obviously

         16  we would not use it in any situation that would

         17  involve a residential, or a going business but we're

         18  certainly open to using it where it's appropriate.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: See, that part, I

         20  believe, is a disconnect from other priorities that

         21  this administration has upheld and I would strongly

         22  urge you within the Department and also with the

         23  Mayor's Office to reconsider that position because,

         24  in fact, this administration has looked towards

         25  eminent domain to take over current, ongoing
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          2  businesses as well as current residences for the

          3  purposes of handing it over to another private

          4  business interest.  So, before we get to that kind

          5  of priority, I would think that securing sites for

          6  badly needed new high schools takes a far higher

          7  priority in terms of the use of eminent domain than

          8  using eminent domain to acquire properties to then

          9  turn it over to another private developer.

         10                 I appreciate that that has

         11  historically been the position of the Department of

         12  Education, that eminent domain is of absolutely the

         13  last resort and I agree with that kind of position.

         14  But if we, as a City, are willing to take private

         15  property for the purpose of turning it over to

         16  another private entity, then I think we should be

         17  more willing to look at using the same technique for

         18  securing sites for new high schools.

         19                 Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you.

         21  Council Member Liu, you constantly refer to Northern

         22  Queens and for me, I need to look at a map, can you

         23  tell me what geographical areas, I know you

         24  mentioned Flushing, what other areas are you talking

         25  about when you say Northern Queens?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Northern Queens

          3  would be Flushing, College Point, Whitestone,

          4  Bayside, Bay Terrace, Little Neck, Douglaston, Fresh

          5  Meadows.  That's on the Northeast side.  I know

          6  there's overcrowding at Newtown and Bryant also.

          7  Elmhurst, Jackson Heights, Woodside  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  Okay.

          9  Now, in response to Council Member Liu, you talked

         10  about that at the end of the five-year Capital Plan

         11  all of the overcrowding would be eliminated.  My

         12  understanding was that at the end of the five-year

         13  Capital Plan the K- 3 seats would be maximum mean

         14  class size would be 20 in a class.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: 20 or less.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And all of the

         17  transportables will be eliminated Citywide.  Is that

         18  correct?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: When all of

         20  the projects in this plan are completed.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Within the

         22  five-year Capital Plan, not 15 years from now.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No, but not

         24  within the five years of the capital plan, either,

         25  because you saw and you will see when we get the
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          2  papers to you, there are schools that, for example,

          3  will be done in the last year of the capital plan

          4  and won't come online for two years.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: For two or three

          6  years.  Is that correct?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That's

          8  correct.  Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, at the end

         10  of the completion of the five-year Capital Plan,

         11  which could be approximately two to three years out,

         12  by that time all of the transportables, which the

         13  acronym is what, TCUs, will be eliminated.  Is that

         14  correct?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now you say that

         17  overcrowding will be eliminated.  That's

         18  overcrowding based on classrooms having 28, 30, 32

         19  but still, we consider that overcrowded but as far

         20  as the Department of Education, you're saying that

         21  overcrowding will be eliminated?  I'm just trying to

         22  understand.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Overcrowding

         24  will be eliminated based upon the current numbers

         25  that classrooms have to be.  That was a goal of this
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          2  plan.  What's very exciting for us is, now, if we

          3  achieve that goal, what will our goals be for the

          4  next plan?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  Well, I'm

          6  trying to achieve a goal of class size reduction in

          7  all of the grades by this plan.  Do you think we can

          8  squeeze that size 12 foot into a size 8 shoe?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That would

         10  be painful.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  Thank

         12  you.  Next we hear from Council Member Melinda Katz

         13  from Queens followed by Council Member James Vacca

         14  of the Bronx.  Council Member Katz.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chair and thank you, Deputy Chancellor for being

         17  here.  And to your staff.  I don't believe you were

         18  here a few weeks ago when we had a hearing on ONS

         19  and Ms. Bernard and Mr. Thomasas testified here and

         20  I think John Liu alluded to the testimony.  I first

         21  need to ask you, where are your staff for ONS, are

         22  they with you here today?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: They are

         24  not.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Is there a
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          2  reason they're not here with you today, since the

          3  last hearing was so controversial and so questioning

          4  as far as information that needed to be given to us

          5  as a follow-up, which, by the way, has not been

          6  given to us.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I'll address

          8  that when I leave here, but they traditional do not

          9  join us for testimony on the capital plan.  They are

         10  involved as they build, as they create these new

         11  schools, in placing students in seats that are under

         12  utilized currently, so, if the statement was made

         13  11,000 new seats, what was meant was 11,000

         14  placements.  Certainly, Ms. Bernard did not mean to

         15  imply that ONS had created new capacity.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: You should know,

         17  I know you weren't here, so, but I want you to know

         18  that, although my colleague Council Member Liu was

         19  being extremely kind, there was absolutely no

         20  question in the testimony that these seats were

         21  supposed to go to new seats and I happen to have the

         22  testimony with me.  I got a transcript of it before

         23  I came here today.  Council Member Jackson asked the

         24  question, Council Member Liu asked the question, in

         25  fact Council Member Jackson went so far as to say,
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          2   "if there's a capacity of 1,200 seats in a school

          3  and 1,000 kids are there and you're placing another

          4  200, you're considering those 200 new seats?" And

          5  the answer to that question was "yes".  There was

          6  absolutely, and then I followed it up, so, he was

          7  being very kind when he said there was questioning

          8  on it.  There wasn't.  So, I am very surprised that

          9  considering all of that, that the staff for ONS did

         10  not seem, that they did not think that this was

         11  worthy enough to come to this hearing to answer

         12  these questions.  We are waiting, just so you know,

         13  on the breakdown of 11,000 new seats.  We were

         14  promised that.  I would still like to see that.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: 11,000

         16  placements.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: It was new seats

         18  according to my transcript.  But, yes, 11,000 seats,

         19  the breakdown of where they have been placed in the

         20  past and also where they will be placed, although I

         21  assume those are the 36 out of 37 new schools that

         22  are being placed and we do have a list of that.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I apologize

         24  for any confusion and I'll certainly follow up to

         25  make sure you get that information.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.  So now,

          3  so we are now all agreed that the seats that we are

          4  putting, what I like to call schools inside of

          5  schools, which I think everybody's calling it now,

          6  those are no longer, those are not new seats.  That

          7  was a mistake last time.  That's not toward the

          8  63,000 new capacity seats, right?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Right.  So those

         11  are out of that equation.  I just want to make it

         12  clear because we are looking through the capital

         13  budget and we can't find the, how this is being paid

         14  for, so let me just solidify my question in this.

         15  The capital plan is very clear on its future and the

         16  sitings of new schools. There is SIRA money for

         17  school improvements and restructuring that has been

         18  transferred out, $750 million has been transferred

         19  out of the SIRA budget.  That has gone to the

         20  capacity and rehabilitation. Left in there for SIRA

         21  money is 22 new campuses that are now in the process

         22  of being built.  So my question to you is: Where is

         23  the money coming from to be paid for these 36 out of

         24  37 new schools? That are going inside other schools?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well,
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          2  there's no capital money going towards them, other

          3  than, insofar as maybe if some of these schools are

          4  in any of those 22 campuses that we're

          5  re-configuring.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: They're not,

          7  apparently.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: There is no

          9  capital money set aside for these placements,

         10  because these are placements in existing seats that

         11  are under utilized.  So we're not building new seats

         12  for the schools.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.  However,

         14  in my district, which I know it's not shocking that

         15  I'm going to ask about that. In my district, for

         16  instance, we have Junior High School 157 Halsey.  As

         17  you know, Garth was there, the head of ONS was there

         18  a few days ago, and had extremely several rapid

         19  discussions with many, many parents.  I would say

         20  there was probably about 300 parents there against

         21  the project.  My understanding of the project not

         22  only through what I know to be logical but also

         23  different ways through Department of Education and

         24  SCA is that this project is going to require its own

         25  entrance because you're putting in high school kids
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          2  with junior high school kids, it's going to require

          3  at least the revamping of at least 11 rooms that are

          4  now closed down, it's going to require getting rid

          5  of crafts rooms, music rooms and I forgot the other,

          6  I think it was a band room and a home ec or

          7  something like that.  But it's going to require a

          8  lot of capital work.  So, my question once again is,

          9  how are we paying for that work, because it cannot

         10  just be a paint job.  The answer may be that it's in

         11  SIRA.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It would

         13  probably be in SIRA, although I don't think there is

         14  any provision yet but we have to take a look at

         15  that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So, Mr. Chair, I

         17  guess my question becomes, we're passing a budget

         18  without knowing how these 36 schools are going to be

         19  paid for out of SIRA and I think that, Madam Deputy

         20  Chancellor, I think the Council deserves to know how

         21  this money is going to be allocated.  We don't have

         22  any breakdown of SIRA, we don't have how these 36

         23  out of 37, and I keep saying 36 out of 37 because

         24  the 37th one is a new school, is going to be paid

         25  for.  To say that there's not a lot of work to be
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          2  done when you're adding schools inside of other

          3  schools is probably that that's true.  I can't

          4  imagine that my school is the exception to the rule.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, I

          6  think then, what we need to do for you is add to the

          7  information that you requested from my colleagues.

          8  Information on any capital funding that's

          9  anticipated.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I just want my

         11  colleagues to know, here, when they're siting these

         12  schools in your Districts, you better see how

         13  they're paying for it and you should know exactly

         14  what the numbers are going to mean to all of us.

         15  But we are still waiting for the breakdown of the

         16  11,000 seats.  And I would say it's more than that.

         17  I would like to know exactly where this money is

         18  coming from and SIRA's not good enough.  And if you

         19  have the schools already sited, each school has to

         20  have a cost factor already because you guys are too

         21  smart not to do that.

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I understand

         23  the question. We'll be happy to get that

         24  information.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.  Thank you
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          2  very much, Mr. Chair.  Oh, and by the way, if it's

          3  not noted, I'm against the school going into the

          4  other school in JHS 157, in case that was a

          5  question.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Duly noted.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you,

          9  Council Member Katz.  I will note that it is not the

         10  exception you are faced with, it seems to be more

         11  and more of a rule, piggybacking on that, I will

         12  just state that we're going to have a problem at

         13  Junior High 189 as well.  With the same thing, a

         14  high school being permanently sited in a junior high

         15  school building.  I'm sure we'll have discussions

         16  about that.  Questions from Council Member Vacca.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Yes, Ms. Grimm.

         18    I wanted to speak about the TCUs, portable

         19  classrooms, and your plan over the next five or six

         20  years to eliminate the TCUs.  I first noticed this

         21  about two years ago, when the five year plan first

         22  came out.  The Chancellor articulated that vision.

         23  I do want to state, first of all, that I think many

         24  Council Members may agree with me, but when you look

         25  at the physical condition of many of our school
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          2  buildings, the TCUs are in preferable physical

          3  condition.  They are air conditioned, many of them

          4  are in very good shape and when you compare them to

          5  the main buildings, parents often do not object, as

          6  long as you iron out logistical issues, of

          7  dismissal, security to and from sharing gym, lunch

          8  period, etc.  With that in mind, a K- 5 school has

          9  portables, TCUs.  K- 5 school houses grades four and

         10  five in the TCUs.  You've now come up with a plan to

         11  eliminate the TCUs based on a new construction

         12  program that you are going to implement in New York

         13  City.  School X loses the portables.  Where do those

         14  children go since the capacity of the building is

         15  now reduced?  Are we talking about movement of

         16  pupils to new buildings and rezoning existing

         17  schools or creating consolidated organizations to

         18  accommodate the elimination of the TCU buildings?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't have

         20  an answer for you.  What has become clear to us in

         21  shaping this, the elimination of the trailers as a

         22  goal, is that in many areas, people have raised the

         23  very issues that you have raised this morning, and

         24  so I think its incumbent upon us as we go into our

         25  planning stages again to drill down with more
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          2  precision in terms of these, the removal of these

          3  trailers and I think we'll be doing that as we look

          4  at our next amendment.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: All right.  Ms.

          6  Grimm, let me state to you.  We've been through

          7  several reorganizations.  In several years.  The

          8  most recent organization that I understand it that

          9  in September of 2007, there will no longer be, there

         10  may be exceptions, but there will no longer be K to

         11  four schools.  The model that the Chancellor wants

         12  is K- 5, 6,7,8, K- 8 or 6 through 8. Those are the

         13  four models.  Many K- 4 schools that I know of have

         14  been told that they are going to have fifth grades

         15  in September. That's the most recent reorganization.

         16

         17                 My statement to you emphatically is

         18  that by having a program to eliminate the TCUs, we

         19  are facing major movement of children.  You are

         20  facing schools that will end up being K- 3.  You are

         21  facing children who will have to travel further from

         22  their homes at very young ages.  We're not talking

         23  the demolition of TCUs or portables and then

         24  building an extension on to that school so that

         25  those children can stay in place.  You're talking of
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          2  removing those grades from the building, creating K-

          3  3 or schools that are 2 5, you may transport the

          4  little ones, should they be in the portables, or

          5  you're talking about massive movements of children.

          6                 Parents have to know, this sounds

          7  very good, eliminating portables sounds very good,

          8  but I know in the Bronx, and I'm looking at my own

          9  Council District but I think I can speak Citywide

         10  this is ominous, this is ominous for stability and

         11  for continuity for many of our kids.  We have to

         12  look at it in those terms.  Those are the terms I

         13  look at it in.  I look at it as ominous and very

         14  disconcerting to parents who want continuity for

         15  their children.

         16                 If anything, if we're going to the K-

         17  8 model, and you have K- 8 schools that many times

         18  count on the portable buildings for capacity, if we

         19  take away those portable buildings, that model may

         20  be out the window in many cases.  It will not be

         21  conceivable to have these organizational structures.

         22    So I caution you, before we start doing something

         23  that maybe sounds very good on paper and it appeals

         24  to people because these are trailers, but, I tell

         25  you, that in the next three to four years, we're
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          2  talking about big time movement of people, big time

          3  movement of our little ones.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Okay.  Well,

          5  just remember, the goal of eliminating the trailers

          6  will take place after all the capacity projects are

          7  finished.  So we have time to reconsider this and to

          8  listen to comments like yours this morning, which I

          9  think are very helpful, and to drill down a little

         10  more in terms of specifically how we want to

         11  implement this.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: But, Ms. Grimm,

         13  right now, we're in a situation, I mean, you're

         14  statement is correct.  Of course I know you're in a

         15  situation of always reassessment and planning.  But

         16  right now we're in a situation where we've had grade

         17  structures organized and reorganized constantly.

         18  Our high schools in the Bronx are now getting 6- 12

         19  schools.  In high schools, they're opening up sixth

         20  grades, so when you relieve overcrowding because you

         21  remove one small school from a big high school, you

         22  then go back to the overcrowding by putting in 6- 12

         23  school.   All right, I caution you regarding the

         24  movement of the TCUs and I want you to know that if

         25  temporary classrooms are moved in my community that

                                                            45

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  causes little ones to travel to different schools

          3  and that parents are upset, I am going to be in the

          4  vanguard of fighting it. I will fight to keep TCUs

          5  if it means keeping a semblance of continuity for

          6  children in my community.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, we'd

          8  like to work with you before we make any definite

          9  plans.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: All right.

         11  High schools in the Bronx.  Tell me what we're doing

         12  about high school crowding in the Bronx.  Tell me.

         13  I have all these numbers, but tell me what are we

         14  doing, what will I be seeing, are you making a

         15  commitment, for example, that no high school in the

         16  Bronx will exceed 3,500 children by 2009, 2010?  I

         17  think that's what I'm looking for.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, what

         19  we've made a commitment to do is to make sure that

         20  we reduce overcrowding.  And we are delighted that

         21  we have actually found locations for all of the

         22  needed high school seats.  What that means in terms

         23  of how many students will be in any individual

         24  school, I don't have that information and I don't

         25  think we have made that commitment because I know
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          2  that we have some very large high schools in the

          3  Bronx and they may well indeed be over 3,500

          4  students.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Oh, almost

          6  every high school in the Bronx, except the small

          7  ones that have been formed recently, are over 3,500.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes, but

          9  some of them may have the capacity for over 3,500

         10  and so they we would anticipate that they would stay

         11  at whatever their capacity is.  They may be

         12  overcrowded today, in which case we would anticipate

         13  a shrinkage.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: All right.

         15  We're talking about capacity and we're talking about

         16  what is educationally sound, as well.  I think

         17  anyone would tell you that to run a high school of

         18  4,000 and 4,400 children is a very difficult task

         19  today.  To program the school, to keep order.  We

         20  have high schools in the Bronx today with 4,700 or

         21  4,800.  When you take into account the adults, we

         22  have 7,000 people in one building.  We have a

         23  situation not just at Lehman in my community, you

         24  can go to Walton, you can go to Clinton, you can go

         25  to Kennedy, you can go to Columbus.  All overcrowded
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          2  schools.  Many of these overcrowded schools have

          3  five small schools within one building but all five

          4  schools add up to 4,000.  So the concept of small

          5  really is the same as big.  We need a commitment

          6  from you to try to get a cap on enrollment at

          7  buildings.  We want a cap on enrollment at

          8  buildings.  I mentioned 3,500.  3,800.  Once you go

          9  beyond 3,500 I think the size of the high school

         10  becomes an issue, even if you may have a cubbyhole

         11  or a closet that may be empty, I think the size

         12  becomes an issue.  And I want to know, in the Bronx,

         13  you're looking for high school sites or do you have

         14  all your sites?  The way I read it here, you have

         15  everything.

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We have all

         17  of our high school sites.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: All right.  And

         19  when do you anticipate building all the high schools

         20  that you need in the Bronx?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Over the

         22  next few years.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Three years,

         24  four years?

         25                 MS. GREENBERGER: They'll be done by
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          2  2010.  When Mott Haven is complete, all of the

          3  schools in the Bronx, there are 12 separate high

          4  school projects, will be completed in 2010.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: All right.  I

          6  would like from you, a plan for 2010, which is only

          7  three years away, indicating what relief every high

          8  school can expect in my Borough.  Is that fair?  I

          9  would like to know what kind of relief is every high

         10  school getting based on this capital program,

         11  because only then can I base whether or not I think

         12  your capital plan, in total, is meaningful.  When I

         13  see, school by school, what relief we can expect

         14  based on your seats, based on what you compute as

         15  demographic changes that you've spoken about.

         16  That's what a plan should be.  I don't have anything

         17  before me that tells me what these schools will look

         18  like in my District or in my Borough in 2010.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Okay.  We

         20  can put that together for you.  But, what it will

         21  show is that we anticipate that all buildings will

         22  have an enrollment that matches their capacity.

         23  That is, in contrast to today, we have schools where

         24  the enrollment exceeds what the actual capacity is.

         25  And so, we can provide that information to you.

                                                            49

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  From that point, we might have a discussion about

          3  what do we do in the next plan because as my

          4  conversation with Chair Jackson earlier, it's

          5  possible once we attain this goal of having all

          6  buildings at capacity or less, we may want to raise

          7  the bar and say we want smaller schools, we want

          8  smaller classes and once we've achieved bringing

          9  everyone to capacity, we'll be able to move on to

         10  new goals.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Well, I'd like

         12  to see those estimates.  I'm aware that capacity

         13  changes almost every year, too. I know, it changes

         14  every year.  I'd like to know where my schools are

         15  going to be in the Bronx in 2010 based on what

         16  you're going to do.  A school by school analysis.

         17  Is that possible to get me something like that?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: I thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you,

         21  Council Member Vacca.  Next we have Council Member

         22  Simcha Felder of Brooklyn and followed by Council

         23  Member Peter Vallone, Jr. Of Queens.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         25  much.  Two issues.  One, this  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Council Member,

          3  I apologize, I have to announce that we have some

          4  young students in the audience that is observing.

          5  Hello, children.  They are from PS 307 of Brooklyn.

          6  Welcome to City Hall.  Okay, Council Member Felder.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Two issues:

          8  One issue relates to a topic that has been brought

          9  up repeatedly about these smaller schools being put

         10  into the larger schools.  I think that you would

         11  agree that placing children, you know, should not be

         12  like a smorgasbord, you know, just putting

         13  everything together.  In terms of the age of the

         14  children, the issue that was brought up by Council

         15  Member Katz, Council Member Liu and, I think, others

         16  about placing high schools together with junior high

         17  schools and the issues that relate to them being in

         18  the same facility even if they're, even if they have

         19  separate entrances.

         20                 Did the City do a study, or find out

         21  experiences, has this been done successfully

         22  anywhere else, because it just seems like there's a

         23  whole mix here, you know, and again, I know you feel

         24  that educating children is not just putting lego

         25  blocks together as long as they fit, but on the
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          2  other hand, even in the past hour, we've heard about

          3  places where there's under- utilization of an

          4  elementary school, so suddenly they'll increase it

          5  to K- 8, there's under- utilization in a junior

          6  high, so we put in a high school.  Have you done

          7  studies?  Has the City done research to find out

          8  what the effect in fact, besides being able to take

          9  care of the utilization problems, you know, and

         10  capacity problems, what effect this has on children?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I'm sure

         12  there's tremendous research and studies.  I'm not

         13  equipped to discuss that here this morning, but I'll

         14  be happy to get back to you.  I would point out that

         15  in the capital plan itself, our model is K- 8 and 6-

         16  12.  So, certainly, there's some contemplation of

         17  having the 6- 12 grades together.  But, as you say,

         18  this isn't about, this is about children and every

         19  single situation has to be examined on its own. Its

         20  unique case.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: But when you

         22  say 6- 12, I think the discussions that have been,

         23  that are coming up is about these new schools, we're

         24  not talking about situations where we decide that a

         25  facility should include 6- 12th graders that live in
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          2  that district, necessarily.  You've been putting new

          3  schools, you know, special schools or other schools,

          4  so it's children that don't primarily live in that

          5  neighborhood, families that live in that

          6  neighborhood with other children who they're

          7  familiar with, you know, maybe cousins or younger

          8  siblings that are in younger grades. You're talking

          9  about children that are coming in 6- 12 primarily

         10  that have nothing to do with any of the children

         11  that are in the junior high or elementary school

         12  that are existing.  Isn't that true?  In many cases?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: In some

         14  cases.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So, I think

         16  that's a real problem.  I think that's a real

         17  problem.  I don't want to waste any more time on

         18  that, but I think that it's a very big problem

         19  through many of the schools.

         20                 Now, in my district itself, since

         21  discussing our own districts, I would say that I

         22  have parts of the districts that are over capacity,

         23  I have parts of the district that are, you know, at

         24  50% capacity and it will never change.  You mention

         25  demographic studies that have been going on.  I
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          2  think it goes back at least four years.  I'm not,

          3  people have said that I am many things, and I would

          4  rather not discuss what they've said I am, but, I'm

          5  not a prophet, but four years ago we discussed the

          6  possibilities of taking schools where you know,

          7  certain neighborhoods throughout the City that you

          8  know that the demographic studies show that

          9  registration and the occupancy will continue to

         10  decline.  That's the nature of the neighborhood,

         11  wherever that may be, and there are neighborhoods in

         12  Brooklyn and in other places.

         13                 I suggested that we sell those

         14  properties today, or I should say four years ago,

         15  and it would have been already five years, where the

         16  conditions would be you sell the property today, the

         17  City retains the right to that property for whatever

         18  many years you feel necessary: Five years, six

         19  years, seven years.  And you have that, and that the

         20  new owners will get the right to the ownership at

         21  the point in time where you believe that you will no

         22  longer need the school and have a new school.  Why

         23  is this so brilliant, even though I'm saying it?

         24  Because I think that the Mayor, you know, is, has

         25  many of the successes have to do with efficiencies
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          2  and running the City, you know, in some ways like a

          3  business.  You're taking schools that you know will

          4  continue to decline in capacity, you get the money

          5  up front, you can use that money to build new

          6  schools in areas where you know that the demographic

          7  studies show that you will need it, and at some

          8  point, at least the long term problem is solved.

          9                 So now it's four years from the time

         10  that we talked about this, maybe at this point a

         11  year or two from now a new school, you would have

         12  had a new school somewhere else where it could be

         13  used and instead of trying to put in new, smaller

         14  schools, again in a place where they're under-

         15  utilized.  It just doesn't make sense.  And, you

         16  know, let somebody write that I want to sell off

         17  public schools.  I do want to sell off public

         18  schools in those places where they're not being used

         19  and that the money can be, you know, you can get

         20  cash on hand to build new schools and the children

         21  of this City will be better served instead of trying

         22  to transport them all over the place, that makes

         23  sense.

         24                 I've not heard from anyone

         25  officially, you know, why this is not something that
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          2  you would consider.  The days of giving away

          3  properties for free, I understand, even though many

          4  neighborhoods would love that, that's not what I'm

          5  talking about. I'm talking about, you know, doing

          6  things in a business fashion. I don't understand it.

          7    So what I'd like you to say, even if you don't

          8  want to, what I'd like you to say is, "Councilman

          9  Felder, this is one of the best things that I've

         10  heard, you know, in a long time" and that we are

         11  going to, we want to meet with you or anyone else

         12  who has schools in their neighborhood that are

         13  under- utilized to come up with ideas in terms of

         14  selling these schools and using that money to serve

         15  the children of the City better.  That's what I'd

         16  like you to say, but anything in that area would be

         17  good.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Suggestions

         19  from you, Council Member Felder, are always welcome.

         20    And I welcome this one and we'd be happy to sit

         21  down and talk to you about it.  We are open to all

         22  suggestions that will give us money and provide for

         23  our schools.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I want to know

         25  if you like it.  All right.  It's not what I wanted.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: But it's not

          3  bad.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: What can I do.

          5    Yes, you're right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you,

          7  Council Member Felder.  Next we'll hear from Council

          8  Member Peter Vallone, Jr. Of Queens.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you,

         10  Mr. Chair.  My daughter is taking her State- wide

         11  math test tomorrow and I kind of felt like her going

         12  through that, the presentation with the numbers

         13  flying around.  John Liu asked most of my questions,

         14  except he left Astoria out of his definition of

         15  Northern Queens.  Yes, you did. I was waiting.

         16  Waiting and waiting.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, now, now.

         18  Make sure we add Astoria in there.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: So, while

         20  Jimmy Vacca is looking for pictures of the schools

         21  in the Bronx, the new babies in the Bronx, we in

         22  Northern Queens, it's not even a twinkling in the

         23  eye of the parents in Northern Queens.  Why is that?

         24    Why have you been successful in siting schools

         25  everywhere else in the City except Queens?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Queens is a

          3  very difficult area.  We have  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Nice.  We're

          5  not difficult at all.  Except maybe John sometimes.

          6  He gets uppity.  Sometimes. We're very nice.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: The people

          8  of Queens are wonderful.  But the availability of

          9  appropriate sites for our schools is quite

         10  difficult.  I'll ask Sharon to kind of walk you

         11  through the steps we have taken and are taking,

         12  including looking for help from all of you folks in

         13  terms of trying to find spots. Sharon?

         14                 MS. GREENBERGER: Sure.  I would just

         15  say, we do have three real estate consultants that

         16  work with us, we have a real estate team that is out

         17  there scouting sites on a continual basis. Queens

         18  has been challenging.  We also had a greater seat

         19  need to site in Queens and we do have a number of

         20  projects in the works. We do have 15 PS/IS schools

         21  being built in Queens and 9 high schools for a total

         22  of 24 projects in the Borough right now.  It is

         23  challenging in certain districts to find space,

         24  again because of site availability.  Queens is not

         25  the only place, we do have a couple of districts in
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          2  Brooklyn where we're facing the same thing and we

          3  have renewed our efforts to try to identified sites

          4  in those areas.  --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: But, I don't

          6  fail to appreciate the difficulty.  I'd like you to

          7  spell out why.  Site availability encompasses

          8  everything.  What is the specific problem in

          9  Northern Queens that you don't find just about

         10  anywhere else in the City that has caused you to be

         11  able to site high schools everywhere else except

         12  that location?

         13                 MS. GREENBERGER: I do think a lot of

         14  it has to do with the availability of sites.  I know

         15  that's a broad terminology but in terms of finding

         16  sites that are large enough, that are appropriate

         17  enough, there sometimes are sites that are located

         18  on very busy Boulevards that aren't appropriate for

         19  school use, there may be environmental conditions

         20  that are too difficult to tackle and there may be

         21  cost issues.  We have to look at all those issues

         22  together to identify those sites that make good

         23  sense.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay.  Again,

         25  not one of those things exist solely in Queens but
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          2  not elsewhere. Environmental issues, big Boulevards,

          3  why?  Why Queens and not anywhere else?  Have we not

          4  put enough attention into Queens because I have some

          5  serious, serious overcrowding problems in my

          6  district, Long Island City High School is one of the

          7  biggest and it's really, to say big Boulevards and

          8  environmental conditions in Queens is not going to

          9  cut it.

         10                 MS. GREENBERGER: As I said, we are

         11  open to suggestions.  I know we've been trying to

         12  work very closely with community groups and elected

         13  officials to identify sites.  Any specific

         14  suggestions that you have we would certainly look

         15  at.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: All right.  I

         17  don't want to belabor the point, but, it's just hard

         18  to believe we were successful in doing it everywhere

         19  else but not in Queens.  Let's look at a question

         20  which I never hear asked and you guys are the

         21  experts.  Why are we facing this overcrowding

         22  problem in our high schools?  Number one, what are

         23  the reasons behind it?  Number two, why does it

         24  manifest itself at the high school level and not at

         25  the grade school level?  Because if we're going to
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          2  deal with this problem successfully we need to know

          3  the causes.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, the

          5  causes are pretty much a demographic.  We've had a

          6  group of children moving through our schools that

          7  peaked in, I think in school year 04- 05 in the high

          8  schools, so now we're actually seeing a decline.

          9  But what we had this surge that's moved through,

         10  it's gone through already the elementary schools and

         11  the middle schools and now it's in the high school

         12  and beginning to faze out but it was a demographic

         13  blip.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: All right.

         15  That's very interesting.  I hadn't heard that theory

         16  before.  So what you're saying is, once this blip

         17  moves through our school system, we may have a

         18  sufficient amount of structure in place to deal with

         19  the new classes coming out of grammar school?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Only if we,

         21  when we build the new projects that are in this new

         22  capital plan.  We have done our demographic study

         23  and we are building to what the demographic studies

         24  show five to ten years out.  What's happened now, is

         25  that we have gone through a period where we had this
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          2  demographic blip which has made the situation worse.

          3    It will improve but it won't become perfect unless

          4  we add capacity, which is what we're doing in this

          5  plan.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay.  Okay.

          7  I have many more follow-ups on that, but I know

          8  we're only supposed to ask a few questions, so I

          9  will follow-up with you on both those topics down

         10  the road and look forward to working with you to

         11  find some sites in all of Northern Queens, whether

         12  Astoria's included or not.  Thanks.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LIU: Chairman

         14  Jackson asked myself, Council Member Liu, to step in

         15  for him for a bit.  Just for the record, I did say

         16  Astoria before.  I specifically said Elmhurst,

         17  Jackson Heights, Woodside, Astoria.  I went West

         18  from Flushing.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Hearing is

         20  the first thing to go when you get old, John.  I

         21  missed it.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay.  But I

         23  do want to echo Council Member Vallone's confusion

         24  here because when we talk about a demographic blip,

         25  at most, we're talking about single percentage
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          2  points differences in the age by age population.  In

          3  fact, there is a long term deficit in the number of

          4  high school seats.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: We're looking at

          7  the ratio of high school seats to Primary School

          8  seats.  So, it is not much about the demographic

          9  blip as it is about what Council Member Vallone is

         10  referring to, a long term structural deficit in the

         11  number of high school seats.  So, we really need to

         12  address that. We have questions from Council Member

         13  Koppell.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you,

         15  Chair.  Several things.  We're obviously going to

         16  have to vote on this plan, or we're going to vote on

         17  an amendment to this plan.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: So, I'd like

         20  a clarification, first of all, of the difference

         21  between what Chairperson Jackson said and you said.

         22  Is there a reduction of 3,000 in the amendment to

         23  the capital plan or is the number of seats the same

         24  because your statement suggested to me that the

         25  numbers stayed the same.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: The number

          3  did stay the same.  What changed was the number of

          4  seats that we are adding in order to add capacity.

          5  That number was 66,000.  Based on demographic

          6  shifts, we have reduced that number to 63,000 new

          7  capacity seats but the plan also contemplates 3,000

          8  replacement seats.  In other words, and this doesn't

          9  address the entire issue. There are students in

         10  schools where the facilities are not what we would

         11  want them to be.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes, I'm

         13  aware.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: And so, we

         15  are beginning an effort to try to replace some of

         16  those seats.  But that won't add new capacity

         17  because we aren't going to want to use the old

         18  facility once we build the new seats.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay, I

         20  understand that and will take it into consideration.

         21    I don't know whether I think that's a good thing,

         22  a reduction of 3,000 seats or not but I understand

         23  what you're saying.

         24                 Let me be a little parochial for a

         25  moment and look at District 10, which is most of my
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          2  district is District 10 in the Bronx.  Under the

          3  original plan, were there any additional elementary

          4  school or middle school seats for District 10?  I

          5  think there were.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

          7  District 10 is a district where we reduced the seat

          8  need.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.  And

         10  how much did you reduce it by?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I believe it

         12  was 1,500 seats.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And why did

         14  you do that?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Based on the

         16  demographic changes that we are seeing.  We are

         17  still adding 2,500 seats.  We will also revisit this

         18  next year.  We will monitor it very closely. But

         19  based on what the data are showing us, there is a

         20  reduced demographic need in District 10.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Do we have, I

         22  have some very good numbers that were prepared, I

         23  believe, by the Committee staff, but I don't have

         24  and maybe it's, we just got the Blue Book recently

         25  and I haven't read it thoroughly, but, you said
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          2  you're adding 2,500 seats.  Can you tell me, not

          3  right now, but could you send me a report to tell me

          4  where those seats are being added?

          5                 MS. GREENBERGER: I can tell you there

          6  are four projects going on in District 10 right now.

          7    One is a PS 79 addition, one is an addition at PS

          8  95, one is an Early Childhood Center at 94X and the

          9  School for Leadership and Journalism.  So those are

         10  four active projects.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Where is the

         12  School for Leadership and Journalism?

         13                 MS. GREENBERGER:  I don't know the

         14  exact address. We'll have to get it for you.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We'll put an

         16  entire list together for you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Would you get

         18  that for me? Maybe we can have a meeting to discuss

         19  this.  In terms of the reduction in seats, it's

         20  distressing because, for instance, the Jonas Bronck

         21  Academy which is a successful school, is located at

         22  Manhattan College.  When I was President of School

         23  Board 10 in the year, I believe it was 2002, after

         24  discussions with then District Superintendent and

         25  Board of Ed, I promised the President of Manhattan
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          2  College that we'd be out in two years.  That was in

          3  2002. I promised.  He reminds me of that every time

          4  I see him.  It's now 2007, they're still there and

          5  we don't have a site.  By the way, oh, I guess

          6  Council Member Vallone is gone, we don't have such

          7  an easy time finding sites in my district, either

          8  and that's one of the problems with Jonas Bronck.

          9  But we would like to have a new, a site for Jonas

         10  Bronck, not on Manhattan College campus because they

         11  want us out.  They want you out, so to speak.  They

         12  want the public school system out.  So that's number

         13  one.

         14                 Number two, we, as you know, are

         15  actively involved with the Mayor's Office in

         16  planning for the Kingsbridge Armory. And the idea is

         17  to build at least two new schools, maybe more,

         18  adjacent to that site or on that site.  And again,

         19  if you take away the 1,500 seats from us that you

         20  said you took away, that doesn't allow us to put,

         21  slot those seats for those schools.  Furthermore,

         22  the school on the Grand Concourse and Kingsbridge

         23  Road is, 246 I believe is the number, is a totally

         24  inadequate structure.  I mean, that's beyond

         25  dispute.  It was a home and school for the blind, it
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          2  has an auditorium that seats about 50 people, its

          3  classrooms are tiny, it's a disgrace that we have

          4  that as a school and yet, I don't see any plan to

          5  replace that.

          6                 So, looking at those issues: The

          7  Kingsbridge Armory issue, the Jonas Bronck issue,

          8  the 246 issue, plus if you look at the list, while

          9  in total there isn't a great overcapacity, assuming

         10  your numbers are right, and some people say your

         11  numbers don't take into account that classrooms have

         12  been made out of science rooms and music rooms and

         13  such, but, assuming your numbers are right, even

         14  your numbers show that in certain segments of the

         15  district, particularly around the Kingsbridge

         16  Armory, there is overcrowding. So, I take issue with

         17  your reduction of 1,500 seats.  I take strong issue

         18  with the reduction of 1,500 seats in District 10

         19  where I think we need those seats and I think we've

         20  indicated at least certain places where I think

         21  those seats could well be utilized, more than the

         22  1,500 seats.

         23                 And so I ask you, respectfully, to

         24  reconsider that and I would find it difficult, Mr.

         25  Chair, to vote for this amendment if those 1,500
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          2  seat remain removed from District 10.  I'm pleased

          3  to see the projections for the high schools.  We do

          4  have overcrowding both at Kennedy and at Clinton in

          5  my district.  I must say, by the way, since you're

          6  here that I think that there's been some

          7  improvements in both of those schools and I'm

          8  pleased about that but they remain overcrowded, they

          9  don't meet Mr. Vacca's 3,500 limit, they're more

         10  close to 4,500 both of those two schools so, I'm

         11  pleased to see you're putting 9,000 some odd new

         12  high school seats and hopefully that will deal with

         13  those issues that I just mentioned.

         14                 And the last thing I'd like to

         15  mention and have you or your staff put it down.  We

         16  have in the Riverdale section of the district, an

         17  annex to 141 which is now a Middle School/high

         18  school and a very successful one, the Kingsbridge

         19  Riverdale Academy.  That annex has not been needed

         20  for the last few years by either by 141 or PS 24,

         21  which is adjacent and its been used as a sort of

         22  incubator for two new schools that you have created.

         23    And that's worked out alright and I think the

         24  record will indicate that some of my colleagues were

         25  difficult about that, I came around and was
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          2  cooperative about that but I don't want another

          3  commitment to that annex, please, without further

          4  discussion.  Because, in my opinion, given all the

          5  construction in that part of my district, I think

          6  that annex may well be needed by 141 or 24 or both,

          7  so, before we make another commitment to another

          8  incubator and there's another year to go on the

          9  incubator that's there now, please, make a note,

         10  that you sit down with me and other elected

         11  officials, and discuss the use of that space.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Fine.  We'd

         13  also welcome the opportunity to sit down and show

         14  you the data on the demographics, because we are

         15  building new capacity to meet what the demographic

         16  trends are showing us.  The question of replacing

         17  seats is another topic.  We are doing 3,000 in this

         18  plan.  I am sure that across the City there are many

         19  opportunities for us to put children into better

         20  space, we just can't address all of it at once but

         21  we'd be happy  --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But, but if

         23  you have very inadequate space in one case because

         24  the college wants to throw us out, in the other case

         25  because it's a horrible building that should have
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          2  been replaced ten years ago, and you, then I don't

          3  think you can take away 1,500 seats by saying,

          4   "Well, we don't need those 1,500 seats."  Because

          5  the only reason you don't need them, assuming your

          6  numbers are right, is because you're perpetuating

          7  those two schools which shouldn't be where they are.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Understood.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you,

         11  Council Member Koppell.  Questions from Council

         12  Member Recchia.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes.  Good

         14  Morning.  I look at my area, District 21, and I see

         15  that there is, you're taking away 1,260 seats that

         16  were planned for District 21.  What are you basing

         17  that on?  Why are you taking away 1,260 seats?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We're basing

         19  it on the demographic trends that we're seeing out

         20  five to ten years.  We'd be happy to sit down with

         21  you and go through the data.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes.  Now, do

         23  you take in the utilization of the schools?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: In what

         25  sense?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Well, you

          3  testified earlier that the Principals fill out

          4  capacity utilization forms.  Correct?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: And does that

          7  play, have a play in deciding a seat's availability?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.  It

          9  plays into it this way.  The new capacity in this

         10  plan contemplates reducing over utilization,

         11  eliminating overcrowding.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay.

         13  Because, in my district, we have ten schools with

         14  trailers, and we have 6,000 units of housing that

         15  are starting to be built next year, in Coney Island.

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We take

         17  housing starts into consideration.  It is something

         18  we will monitor.  We've made a commitment to redoing

         19  this every single year, so, our data now are showing

         20  us there's less need than we thought, we'll do it

         21  again next year and see what the data show.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Because I

         23  disagree with this.  And when you do your

         24  utilization rates for buildings, to see if they're

         25  under- utilized, okay, do you count the classrooms
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          2  that are actually being used or do you count and you

          3  exclude libraries and dance studios in your reports?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: What we look

          5  at is, if a school is using a cluster room, for

          6  example, as a classroom, we consider that

          7  overcrowding.  Because the school should have that

          8  cluster room available to it for other uses, not as

          9  a classroom.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: You mean not

         11  as a dance studio or a library?

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It should be

         13  whatever the Principal and the school community

         14  wants to use it for but it's a cluster room, it

         15  should not be used as a classroom.  So we count that

         16  as overcrowding.  In this plan, we want to be able

         17  to eliminate the use of a cluster room as a

         18  classroom.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: So, because

         20  Principals have been complaining that they believe

         21  to have libraries, dance studios and other rooms

         22  like this, but the Department of Ed is telling them

         23  that when they see that, they're considering that

         24  under- utilized because they could use those rooms

         25  as classrooms.  So it's working against the
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          2  Principals.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I'd like to

          4   --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Because my

          6  Principals, I meet with them periodically, this was

          7  one complaint that they're having, you know,

          8  especially in my school, we promote the arts, in my

          9  district, every one of my schools have arts

         10  programs, whether it's dance, theater, music rooms

         11  and stuff and the Principals feel that they're being

         12  penalized and they're being told that their building

         13  is being under- utilized because and when they speak

         14  to DOE it's pointed out to them that they have this

         15  room and that room but they say no, it's a dance

         16  studio, it's a music room, it's this and they're

         17  saying that well, we consider that a classroom for

         18  children that could be used.  So how do rectify this

         19  because that's not fair?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I think we

         21  need to get better information out to our

         22  Principals.  We'll also be happy to share with you

         23  the methodology we use so that you also can help us

         24  in terms of explaining this.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: The bottom
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          2  line is, you know, it's not fair to consider those

          3  as classrooms if they're being used for the

          4  children.  I just want to bring this to your

          5  attention because Principals are complaining, you

          6  know, bring this to our attention.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I appreciate

          8  it.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Because

         10  before I spend money, capital money, on these dance

         11  studios and other types of rooms like this, you

         12  know, in one school I just built an early childhood

         13  science lab and a regular science lab for older

         14  children, you know.  I don't want that to be

         15  considered space for classrooms, you know.  So, it's

         16  a problem that I think we have to address now.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We'll work

         18  on it with you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you,

         21  Council Member. Next we hear from Council Member

         22  Diana Reyna of Brooklyn and before she, you need to

         23  know that the public will be coming after the

         24  Department of Education and SCA and the New York

         25  City Fund Authority.  Educational Construction Fund
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          2  after they finish their testimony and answer

          3  questions, we will hear from members of the public

          4  and other advocacy groups, so, please bear with us.

          5  Council Member Diana Reyna of Brooklyn.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Good morning,

          7  Ms. Grimm.  I just wanted to go back to what Council

          8  Member Recchia was just questioning.  I wasn't too

          9  clear whether or not you're exploring going back to

         10  figure out whether or not those types of classrooms,

         11  which are enrichment courses for the student body,

         12  are going to be considered classrooms nevertheless,

         13  or they're going to be considered not part of the

         14  classroom formula.  So  --

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: What we do,

         16  and this is a change, actually, that we made in the

         17  Blue Book.  What the Department used to do, the

         18  Board of Ed used to do was, if a cluster room was

         19  being used as a classroom, when they published the

         20  Blue Book they counted it as a classroom.  We

         21  changed that because we said, look, every school is

         22  entitled to x number of cluster rooms and if a

         23  school has to be using a cluster room as a

         24  classroom, that's not right.  So we're not going to

         25  count it as a classroom, we're going to count it as

                                                            76

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  a cluster room and that means that the school then,

          3  would show that it was being over- utilized, that

          4  it's over crowded.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So it's the

          6  reporting from the Principals labeling a classroom

          7  rather than a cluster room.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes, but we

          9  make that adjustment.  So, maybe that's the source

         10  of the confusion for Principals.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Correct.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Right.

         13  Okay.  Very helpful.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Fantastic.  And

         15  so now, that answers one of my questions pertaining

         16  to, and I'd like to thank the Office of New Schools

         17  for having, for the first time ever, communicated to

         18  my office that one of my Middle Schools that was not

         19  functioning is going to be closed and replaced with

         20  new schools.  There's a high school there, right

         21  now, that we're trying to feed support to, and I

         22  don't want that school to be lost in the shuffle of

         23  entering two new schools into the building but,

         24  nevertheless, the current administration at this

         25  particular school, IS 49, has devoted a lot of time
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          2  over the past few years, trying to create these

          3  cluster rooms and so they created an art gallery.

          4  What will happen to this art gallery?  I don't want

          5  to lose the art gallery if it's being considered as

          6  classroom space rather than a cluster room.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't have

          8  that information with me.  We'll have to follow up.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I just wanted

         10  to highlight it because there's a lot of changes

         11  that are going to occur.  Right now, as we speak,

         12  you're restructuring that school.  In addition to

         13  that, as far as the projection of 10,000 new housing

         14  units in Greenpoint/Williamsburg along the

         15  waterfront.  I continue to raise this to you, I

         16  don't want it to be lost.  You know, you've spoken a

         17  lot about demographic changes and upland, there were

         18  a number of developments that have been occurring

         19  that I don't know if they're being taken into

         20  consideration.  Obviously, the shift in demographics

         21  from the school district shows zero need for new

         22  capacity in District 14 Greenpoint/Williamsburg.

         23  But the reality is that, a lot of families as

         24  they're losing affordable housing opportunities,

         25  they're shifting to the Bushwick community or even
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          2  Ridgewood, Queens where I notice that in District 24

          3  in Queens there's going to be an additional 560

          4  seats.  Where are those seats going to be place, as

          5  far as District 24 is concerned?  In what community?

          6                 MS. GREENBERGER: We are, they are

          7  throughout the district.  We have a number of

          8  additions taking place right now in District 24 and

          9  we are continuing to look for sites.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: But is this a

         11  new K- 3 grade school or is it a middle school?

         12  What is the new seats for District 24 in Queens?

         13                 MS. GREENBERGER: I believe that's

         14  PS/IS seats.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So it's going

         16  to be a K- 8?

         17                 MS. GREENBERGER: I'd be K- 8.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Okay.  So it's

         19  going to be a K- 8.  And you're just trying to

         20  locate anywhere in District 24?

         21                 MS. GREENBERGER: District 24 is

         22  another district that has been historically

         23  challenging for us to identify sites. It's one of

         24  the reasons we have started some addition projects

         25  this year because we could find sites on some
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          2  existing schools.  But we continue to look, and

          3  again, any suggestions you have we would look at.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And this is

          5  part of the new amendment, the additional 560 seats?

          6                 MS. GREENBERGER: Correct.  Again,

          7  looking at the demographics, looking at the

          8  utilization, we identified an increased need in

          9  District 24.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: This is new

         11  information that I'd like to just continue to

         12  explore further with you, as far as sites are

         13  concerned.  Going back to the 10,000 new units along

         14  the waterfront in Greenpoint/Williamsburg.

         15  Understanding the numbers you have for District 14,

         16  School District 14 are zero need.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We'd be

         18  happy to work with you on that.  We'll be re-

         19  examining housing starts and demographics in the

         20  next amendment that we'll be issuing next November.

         21  And so --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Next November?

         23  This November.

         24                 MS. GREENBERGER: This November.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: November
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          2  coming.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Correct.  And

          4   --

          5                 MS. GREENBERGER: I should just say

          6  that we are aware of the unit starts.  Again, we

          7  work very closely with DOB and with EDC and with all

          8  the capital agencies that focus on development and

          9  we understand where those developments are slated

         10  and how many units are slated to come on.  As the

         11  Deputy Chancellor said, we also then look at

         12  utilization of existing schools.  In this particular

         13  district, I think the schools are under- utilized,

         14  in some instances up to 60% under- utilized, so  --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And I can agree

         16  with you as far as the under- utilization for

         17  certain schools, but not others and the feedback

         18  that I can give you  --

         19                 MS. GREENBERGER: That would be very

         20  helpful.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: But one

         22  particular school is overcrowded and that's the PS

         23  132 because it houses a Middle School as well.  13

         24  years ago they had blueprints of a new building that

         25  was supposed to be built for them, got lost in the
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          2  shuffle, was never a priority in the five-year

          3  Capital Plan, now they're busting conflicts between

          4  parent associations, you know, we need to resolve

          5  the Middle Schools permanency in the District and

          6  knowing there's an under- utilization occurring in

          7  the district, there's a delay to really have those

          8  conversations so that we have resolution come this

          9  September and so, part of the amendment that I'd

         10  like to see resolved is the situation with Middle

         11  School 577.  And so if someone from your office can

         12  contact me.  I've been in contact with ONS, the

         13  feedback from the office is that at this time, it's

         14  not a priority.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We'll follow

         16  up on that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Thank you.

         18  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You're welcome,

         20  Council Member. Next we hear from Council Member Al

         21  Vann of Brooklyn.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Yes, thank you,

         23  Mr. Chair. Before I forget, I wanted to suggest that

         24  you may want to send a letter to the Principal of PS

         25  307, I think it was.  I observed them come in, I saw
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          2  them go upstairs and they were perfectly well

          3  behaved, and I can't imagine being interested in

          4  this stuff going on down here but they listened and

          5  they didn't talk and I was amazed at how well

          6  behaved they were.  The second group also, but they

          7  weren't identified.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That was also

          9  307.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: They should be

         11  commended.  They were really excellent.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That's Leticia

         13  James' district.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: I'm sure she had

         15  nothing to do with that, but, nonetheless, they were

         16  very well behaved.  As a former teacher, in fact, my

         17  first teaching was in elementary school and that was

         18  quite an experience.  I did well, by the way,

         19  though.

         20                 Secondly, I wanted to really commend

         21  Ms. Greenberger.  In another life, also, I was in

         22  the Legislature and we, I was there when we created

         23  SCA, School Construction Authority and I happened to

         24  Chair the Black and Puerto Rican Caucus at that

         25  time, where we insisted on the creation of the
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          2  Mentor program. I've kept tabs with it through the

          3  years and I'm very pleased for your ongoing support

          4  and funding for the Minority Business Programs,

          5  which include, of course, both the hundred million

          6  dollar per year support for the Mentoring Program.

          7  I'm also aware of the bonding program that you've

          8  created, which I think is excellent, up to $25

          9  million in bonds for those which are graduating from

         10  the mentor to the graduate mentor program.  I think

         11  that's excellent. I'm also aware of your hiring the

         12  Carver Bank to help do, I guess, a loan program, so

         13  they participate in the bonding up to $100,000. I

         14  think that's an excellent program.  I know that

         15  you're trying to recruit additional minority firms

         16  and that you have a campaign, as I understand it, to

         17  do that.  And some other things.  So you ought to be

         18  commended.  I really appreciate.  What you're doing

         19  is very, very important and we have to find more

         20  minorities to participate, Mr. Chair.  There seems

         21  to be a dearth.  I don't know where they're going

         22  but we have to find a way to really get them

         23  involved, because there are opportunities available

         24  in SCA.  So, I want to thank you for that.

         25                 I am intrigued by the revival of this
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          2  40 year public benefit corporation.  How did that

          3  come about?  I mean, where did this come from all of

          4  a sudden forty years later?

          5                 MR. SMARR: The fund has done 15

          6  projects in New York City since 1967.  The revival

          7  of the fund was actually a commandment of the

          8  Bloomberg Administration that every tool should be

          9  used, available to the City, to build school seats

         10  and ACF is one of those opportunities where we can

         11  actually get the private real estate community

         12  involved in school construction.  So, I've been on

         13  the job since 2002.  I was specifically tasked with

         14  actually revitalizing the fund and bringing it back

         15  to life.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Who retains

         17  ownership of the City- owned land?  The City?

         18                 MR. SMARR: The City throughout the

         19  full term retains ownership.  School sites are very

         20  valuable, they're hard to come by.  So what we want

         21  to do is be able to develop a municipal site to its

         22  maximum benefit all the while retaining ownership of

         23  it.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Now the

         25  developer, can he or she build anything they want,
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          2  as long as they build the schools or there's

          3  something that determines what other use can be made

          4  of City owned property?

          5                 MR SMARR: Well, what we focus on

          6  schools and any compatible use, so we have schools

          7  and office.  Norman Thomas High School has a half

          8  million square foot office building above it.  We

          9  have schools and retail, to the extent the retail

         10  could work but we mainly have schools and

         11  residential uses.  So we have co- ops, rentals and

         12  we have Mitchell- Lama projects that were built

         13  above schools by the fund.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: So we're

         15  actually using the air rights over schools.

         16                 MR. SMARR: Precisely.  Most schools,

         17  particularly in the more dense areas of the City,

         18  Manhattan, Long Island City, Downtown Brooklyn,

         19  almost any school site is going to be under utilized

         20  from an air rights perspective.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: So are they

         22  paying us mortgage, leasing, renting  --

         23                 MR. SMARR: Exactly.  We're receiving

         24  rental payments from developers and those are being

         25  used to pay 100% of the costs of the actual school

                                                            86

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  construction.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: So how much of

          4  this are we anticipating as meeting our needs of

          5  completing the number of seats required in New York

          6  City?  How big a piece of that?

          7                 MR. SMARR: So far, it's hard to say,

          8  but so far what we've focused on is using the fund

          9  to replace outdated school facilities.  So we have

         10  an opportunity to do some of what Deputy Chancellor

         11  Grimm said, which is to look at older school

         12  buildings which, from a City capital standpoint we

         13  can't right now target capital funds to, because

         14  we're building new seats but to take some of those

         15  older school buildings that everyone agrees are not

         16  the best facilities and then replace them with brand

         17  new buildings using ACF.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Oh.  Okay.  So,

         19  the City owned sites that we were talking about

         20  would be primarily older school buildings.

         21                 MR. SMARR: That's the first projects

         22  we've done.  It will probably be a mix of both,

         23  replacing the more outdated schools but also trying

         24  to address some of the stated capacity needs in the

         25  plan with ACF.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Have you

          3  identified City owned sites that might be applicable

          4  in this situation?

          5                 MR. SMARR: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Are there any in

          7  Brooklyn?

          8                 MR. SMARR: Yes, in fact, I think in

          9  Council Member Yazzky's district.  We're working

         10  with him right now with a project on Fourth Avenue.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: So, you know now

         12  the City owned sites that could be used in this

         13  program.

         14                 MR. SMARR: Yes, sir.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: All of them are

         16  not old schools, some of them are just City owned?

         17                 MR. SMARR: Actually, the only sites

         18  the fund has evaluated are school sites.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Are school

         20  sites?

         21                 MR. SMARR: Yes, sir.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: But according to

         23  the law you could use other City owned property as I

         24  understand it.

         25                 MR. SMARR: Absolutely.  The
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          2  requirement of the statute is just to be municipal

          3  property.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Do you know how

          5  many sites have been identified thus far in the

          6  City?

          7                 MR. SMARR: I could get you that

          8  information. Roughly, you know, ten or less.  Right

          9  now, what we're working on are projects that are in

         10  Manhattan and Brooklyn.  A total of four sites.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: And each case,

         12  it's complemented by residence as opposed to  --

         13                 MR. SMARR: Yes, these are all

         14  residential uses.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: I'm interested

         16  in that project. I'd like to be kept abreast.  Thank

         17  you.

         18                 MR. SMARR: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you,

         20  Council Member Vann. Council Member Melinda Katz.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you very

         22  much.  I'll be brief because I know we're going on

         23  the second go round and you've been here a long

         24  time.  One of the other issues with new schools is

         25  the same issue that comes up with leasing of sites.
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          2  When Ms. Greenberger, who I also have the utmost

          3  respect for, went through her list of people and

          4  organizations that were reached out to when school

          5  siting, there was one group that wasn't mentioned

          6  which was the elected officials.  I just think that

          7  that's something that I would hope that the culture

          8  of the Department of Education and SCA but really is

          9  DOE for school sitings would change.  Elected

         10  officials have great expertise in their own

         11  districts and know their districts very well.

         12                 But, more to the point, leasing and

         13  new schools, one of the things is not done is that

         14  you never have to go through the Council.  With

         15  school sitings it goes through my Committee, you

         16  know, it has to go through a process, you send it

         17  over to us twenty days, you know, we site it.  So, I

         18  guess, there's a few questions with that.  Number

         19  one, how do we change that?  How do we make the

         20  Council a part of leasing spaces and ONS before the

         21  final decision is made?  Number two, the

         22  environmental review is less for leasing space, as

         23  well.  So, I think, and correct me, please, when I'm

         24  wrong and if that's true, how do we deal with that

         25  issue?  And the third one is then, leasing is in the
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          2  expense budget?

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay, because in

          5  any work that needs to be done on a piece of

          6  property for leasing, because it may be a long term

          7  lease, I assume that would then be in the capital

          8  budget?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.  So, are

         11  there any schools sited for leasing in the capital

         12  budget?  That is set out for in the capital budget

         13  for leasing, for long term?

         14                 MS. GREENBERGER: Art and Leather in

         15  Queens is a long term lease.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Is a long term

         17  lease.  Is that the only one?

         18                 MS. GREENBERGER: No.  We can get you

         19  a list.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Yes.  If you can

         21  get us a list of those properties that are in the

         22  capital budget for long term leasing and I'd also

         23  like a list of the properties that are leases that

         24  you don't need capital money for that have already

         25  been sited. But, I guess more to the point, how do
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          2  we change that?  How do we make the Council part of

          3  the leasing and the new schools before their actual

          4  decision is made?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That would

          6  have to be a conversation we would need to have with

          7  you.  As to your second question having to do with

          8  the environmental work, I'll let Sharon address

          9  that.

         10                 MS. GREENBERGER: We do the exact same

         11  environmental due diligence for leased or owned

         12  site.  Exact same process, exact same requirements.

         13  We don't make a distinction.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.  What's

         15  the minimum number of years that the Department of

         16  Education will lease a piece of property for a

         17  school?

         18                 MS. GREENBERGER: Seven.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Seven.  Okay.

         20  So I would like to, Mr. Chair, and if you'd like if

         21  we could be part of that discussion as a Committee,

         22  to figure out how we can be part of this.  I mean,

         23  let's face it, we also have the same problem with

         24  school sitings, too.  We don't get it until it comes

         25  through the process and then it's too late because a
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          2  decision's been made.  So, it's a general discussion

          3  but I'd like to have that.  Thank you.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Happy to do

          5  it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Thank you,

          7  Council Member.  Let me just ask a series of

          8  questions, if you don't mind.  I believe you said

          9  here today that the Department of Education is no

         10  longer considering any cluster rooms or specialized

         11  spaces in a school's capacity, however, aren't there

         12  instances in the Blue Book where a school, due to

         13  overcrowding, has converted libraries, dance

         14  studios, science labs and other specialized spaces

         15  into general construction, general instruction

         16  classrooms, and that space is considered part of

         17  that school's capacity?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: A Principal

         19  might report it as a classroom, but when we go

         20  through the data and we compile the Blue Book, under

         21  our new methodology, we allow for the number of

         22  cluster rooms that every school really should have

         23  and we adjust the data for that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How does DOE

         25  determine a school, how many cluster rooms a school
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          2  should have.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't

          4  remember offhand what the formula is, but I can

          5  certainly provide you with that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm just trying

          7  to get a general parameters.  A school of 2,000

          8  seats, for example, how many cluster rooms would

          9  that have?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't

         11  know.  We have to get back to you on it because I

         12  think it's much more detailed than that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I know that you

         14  had indicated, or Sharon Greenberger had indicated,

         15  the movement with New York City Department of

         16  Education is to build K- 8 schools and 6- 12. Would

         17  those schools have cluster rooms or would they not?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: They would.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: They would.

         20  Well, if you can have, you know, touch base with

         21  staff as to how they determine how many cluster

         22  rooms are needed in a given school, I believe that

         23  high schools, they don't have cluster rooms, correct

         24  me if I'm wrong.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: They do not.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: They do not.

          3  But elementary and intermediate schools, they do.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.  Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  Because I

          6  know, for example, IS 218 in District 6, I know

          7  personally because I've gone to that school and I've

          8  seen the dance studio being used as a classroom and

          9  they still have the mirrors in there and they still

         10  have the bars that you hold on to and under this

         11  plan, that will no longer, once this five-year

         12  Capital Plan is finished, that will then be a dance

         13  studio, is that correct, again?  I assume.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That is what

         15  we contemplate.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, with

         17  respects to, let me stick to IS 218 for a second.

         18  It opened in 1993.  My understanding with a capacity

         19  of 1,210 students and now has a capacity of, you can

         20  correct me if I'm wrong, about 1,632 and with 1,590

         21  students it's listed in the Blue Book as 94%

         22  utilized.  And that would give the impression that

         23  that school is not 100% full to capacity but, in

         24  reality, it exceeds, in my opinion, 100% capacity,

         25  so where the school is overcrowded, where the
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          2  hallways are overcrowded, where the lunchrooms you

          3  have more than the lunchroom periods that are

          4  normal, that parents and others would think that are

          5  normal and so by the time this five-year Capital

          6  Plan is completed, taking for example IS 218, the

          7  number of students should be back at 1,210 or below?

          8  Or what?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I'm not

         10  familiar with the specifics of that school, so I

         11  would need staff to take a look at it and get back

         12  to you on it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, that would

         14  be good.  Let me just ask about the methodology used

         15  in creating the demographic projections, if you

         16  don't mind.  Okay?  So, the methodology in creating

         17  the demographic projections used by the Department

         18  of Education is called, my understanding, the Cohort

         19  Survival Procedure?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Okay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Essentially,

         22  this, to my understanding, is a simulation model

         23  that bases future enrollment projections in large

         24  measures on the number of students who have

         25   "survived" moving from one grade to the next in the
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          2  recent past. According to the Greer's projections,

          3  and Greer is your consultants, is that correct?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Um Hm.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That was

          6  prepared in January, 2007.  Of the 76,884 students

          7  projected to enter the ninth grade in 2012, it is

          8  estimated that only 36,510, about 47% will make it

          9  to the 12th grade.  Expectations for some Boroughs

         10  are even worse, my understanding is.  For example,

         11  the Bronx is expected to enroll 15,458 ninth graders

         12  in the year 2012 but only 5,949 just over 38% are

         13  expected to survive until the twelfth grade.  How do

         14  you reconcile these projections with the Department

         15  of Education's stated goal of increasing the

         16  graduation rate to 75% in the near future?  In fact,

         17  how do you reconcile it with the Department of

         18  Education's current claim that it is graduating 58%

         19  of its students?  I am trying to get an

         20  understanding of all the projections and the claim

         21  that 58% is graduating and we want to achieve a

         22  graduation rate of 75% but the Greer projections as

         23  far as space for schools or high schools is with a

         24  graduation rate of only 38%.  That doesn't seem to

         25  fit and I just need to, not only for myself but for
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          2  all my colleagues of the Bronx and the City of New

          3  York, we need to understand how you get there.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Okay.  First

          5  of all, there's a lot of misunderstanding out there,

          6  it seems to me.  We're talking about apples and

          7  oranges.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Our

         10  graduation rate is determined pursuant to a formula

         11  that basically starts with what we call the Cohort

         12  of Students who begin ninth grade and our Office of

         13  Assessment and Accountability follows that Cohort

         14  through the four years of high school and calculates

         15  at the end, what percentage of that Cohort

         16  graduates.  And that rate is currently 58.2, I

         17  think. That's our graduation rate.

         18                 For purposes of our capital planning,

         19  we do not look at that Cohort, because for us, we

         20  don't plan in terms of how many children are moving

         21  through high school in four years and graduating, we

         22  are planning for how many children are in the high

         23  school and need a seat.  For example, by the time

         24  that Cohort gets to the twelfth grade, and 58.2

         25  percent of them are graduating, we have other
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          2  students that are in the twelfth grade.  We have the

          3  students that are in their fifth year in high school

          4  or their sixth year in high school.  So we have to

          5  look at something broader than the graduation Cohort

          6  that our Office of Accountability and Assessment is

          7  looking at.  We actually have to count, a physical

          8  count, of how many children are in the school and

          9  who need a seat. So, they're very different numbers

         10  and we would be happy to meet with you, or your

         11  staff, or anyone to go over the correct methodology

         12  and the different methodologies involved in

         13  calculating these numbers because there's just too

         14  much misunderstanding out there and that's

         15  unfortunate.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes.  And I

         17  think that, and if there's too much

         18  misunderstanding, I think that is unfortunate, and

         19  I'd like to, if you could hand me, I'm a sort of

         20  visual person, give me, in writing, the methodology

         21  in writing, so that it can be explained but also

         22  that I'll be able to follow it, and then absent of

         23  you or anyone from SCA or the Educational

         24  Construction Fund, we can just take the methodology

         25  and go through the numbers ourselves, to say they're
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          2  absolutely right or they're absolutely wrong.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Fine.

          4  Because what's happening is people are confusing the

          5  two methodologies so we'd be happy to do that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And I'm not

          7  willing to allow the confusion to continue.  In

          8  fact, I want absolute clarity so I can understand.

          9  Because if we're wrong in our understanding or wrong

         10  in our methodology of determinate, or if we need to,

         11  it needs to be very, very clear.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Good.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Before I

         14  continue with any other questions, I need to turn to

         15  the Public Advocate, Betsy Gotbaum, she must attend

         16  a funeral, so I'm going to allow her to ask any

         17  questions.  Public Advocate Betsy Gotbaum.

         18                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: Thank you

         19  very much.  Good Afternoon.  I think I'm probably

         20  the great confuser, then, in this particular issue

         21  that the Chair brought up but, I have to, I can't, I

         22  don't want to give my whole testimony here, I'm just

         23  going to ask a question because I am still confused.

         24    Yesterday your spokesman said that you will create

         25  seats for all our high school students in whatever
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          2  numbers they are graduating.  But it seems to me, by

          3  the time the kids are graduating, it's too late and

          4  you can't build the schools overnight.  And so, to

          5  me, the failure to plan is a plan for failure.  So,

          6  I don't understand, I'm really not understanding how

          7  the capital plan that has been published meets your

          8  graduation rates.  So, perhaps I should be with the

          9  Chair at the sessions where we understand these

         10  apples and oranges.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We'd be

         12  happy to brief you because the report that was

         13  issued yesterday does confuse the issue.

         14                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: Well, I can

         15  see why it confuses the issue and what I would like

         16  to do is not be confused, just like the Chair and

         17  I'm sure many of the people on the Committee.

         18  Kathleen would like not to be confused so I would

         19  look forward to having it explained to us as soon as

         20  we possibly can.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We'd be

         22  happy to do that.

         23                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: Thank you.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Anything else,
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          2  Public Advocate?

          3                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM: No, thank

          4  you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You know, Ms.

          6  Grimm, with respects to the numbers that I was

          7  citing you, these are the numbers that I was citing

          8  you, this comes straight from, I mean the reports

          9  that you, the Department of Education issue based on

         10  your Greer consultant, so, am I wrong in these

         11  numbers?

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: There is a

         13  confusion about the two methodologies, which we

         14  would be happy to walk you through.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  And is

         16  the methodologies cited in the Greer study or

         17  report?  Is it clear in there?  Or is there separate

         18  methodology other than what's cited?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, we'll

         20  be happy to go through it with you and if you don't

         21  feel that it's clear, we'll -

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: No, I'm just

         23  asking you, where is it cited?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: There is a

         25  second methodology that the Department does not use
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          2  for the purposes of planning for capacity.  The

          3  capital plan is based on eliminating overcrowding,

          4  making assumptions that we have a seat for every

          5  child who's in school.  The graduation rate of 58.2,

          6  I believe it is, is calculated in a totally

          7  different way, looking only at a group of children

          8  who enter the ninth grade at one time, together, and

          9  monitors them as they move through four years of

         10  school.  Not everybody graduates in four years, and

         11  so they still need a seat.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  But what

         13  about all of those that drop out?  Are the

         14  projections based on those that are in school, or

         15  the projections of those that enter that there will

         16  be seats for all of those that enter, or, for

         17  example, we know from an historical perspective x

         18  amount of children, for this example, in the Bronx

         19  you have almost 15,500 ninth graders in there, but

         20  only about 6,000 are expected to survive.  So, are

         21  we basing those expectations that, for example,

         22  9,000 will drop out and quit before graduation so as

         23  a result we're not even going to project for those

         24  individuals?  Because all of those 9,000 are not

         25  taking graduating in five, six years.  Many of them
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          2  will never graduate at all.  And my question is, you

          3  are, the Department of Education, are including as a

          4  statistic that approximately 9,000 will not survive

          5  at all.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't have

          7  those numbers in front of me.  So in order to do the

          8  specificity, we need to sit down with you and go

          9  through it.  I just want to reiterate, we have two

         10  different methodologies here, measuring two

         11  different things and we are not, what we have to be

         12  clear about is that we do not mix, as I say, apples

         13  and oranges.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I would like

         15  us to have a seat for every high school student.  If

         16  the student is not going to graduate in a

         17  traditional setting, then, it's our responsibility

         18  to get that child into a setting, in that building,

         19  where he will graduate.  I want a seat for every age

         20  eligible child.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Is that where

         23  we're going?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: That's where
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          2  we're going. That's what I want to do.  All these

          3  numbers are here today and gone tomorrow.  The

          4  reality of the situation is that we have a

          5  Department of Education.  Your role is to devise

          6  programs that will keep children in school, help

          7  those who are failing, and also advance those who

          8  are excelling.  So every child has needs, one way or

          9  another, but there has to be a seat in your capital

         10  plan for every child throughout his development as a

         11  high school student.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Okay.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Council Member

         15  Letitia James, you were out.  Let me just turn to

         16  Council Member Letitia James so she may be able to

         17  ask any questions that she may have.  Council Member

         18  Letitia James of Brooklyn.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         20  Just a general question related to graduation rates.

         21    That 58.2% that you cited, does that include the

         22  specialized high schools as well?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: The

         24  specialized high schools, such as?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Tech.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Oh, yes.

          3  Absolutely.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So, if you take

          5  out the specialized high schools, what is the

          6  graduation rate then?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't know

          8  that number.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.  Just a

         10  general question.  SIRA funding: I know SIRA funding

         11  is specifically earmarked for struggling schools,

         12  for SURR schools, for SINI schools, and for low

         13  performing schools.  Is that a correct statement?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, it was

         15  a category that was created because when we built

         16  this plan, we, of course, added the traditional

         17  capacity projects, we added the traditional CIP, the

         18  Capital Improvement Projects, and we said we also

         19  need to be spending our money to support the

         20  Children First initiatives. And so, that money is

         21  dedicated, for example, to re-configuring our very

         22  large high schools, to building more science

         23  laboratories because after all, now we have a

         24  requirement that our children have to pass a science

         25  Regents Exam and we have high schools without
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          2  science labs.  I mean, that's awful.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So the answer

          4  to the question is SIRA funding which is

          5  specifically earmarked for struggling schools is now

          6  being used for capacity.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: No?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Capacity is

         10  a separate category and we have some materials that

         11  we're getting for everybody which we'll be happy to

         12  share with you and walk you through.  It's not just

         13  for struggling schools.  It's to support, SIRA money

         14  supports the Children First initiatives.  It's also

         15  to reclaim playgrounds.  It's also to redo

         16  auditoriums.  It's also to redo gyms.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So it's

         18  auditoriums, and gyms, and other infrastructure

         19  needs in schools that are not under registration,

         20  schools that are not in need of improvement, schools

         21  that are not in need of renovation?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No.  It's

         23  for schools where these kinds of projects are

         24  needed.  These are the kinds of projects, in fact,

         25  that the CFA, Judge DeGraff's decision talked about,
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          2  in terms of how we're shortchanging our children.

          3  So what we're doing, is trying to provide these.

          4  Are we providing all of it?  No.  Because we're only

          5  doing what we can afford to do in this plan.  But

          6  that's the focus of the SIRA money.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Now, the reason

          8  why I ask that question is, because, going again I

          9  want to speak very general and then want to be very

         10  specific.  In part of District 17 in Brooklyn that I

         11  represent, last year's capital plan, most of their,

         12  all of their funds were removed from the capital

         13  budget.  Most of the schools in 17, the schools that

         14  I represent, are either SINI schools, SURR schools

         15  or SIRA schools and they didn't receive any capital

         16  funds, it was taken out of the budget.  And so, and

         17  Ms. Greenberger was at a hearing that we had two

         18  days ago, three days ago, I can't remember, which

         19  was chaired by Assembly Member Brennan and some

         20  representatives from CEC from 17 came out and

         21  basically, you know, talked about that.  And so, I

         22  was just wondering whether or not the SIRA funding,

         23  which is for struggling schools, where, again, 17,

         24  most of the schools in 17 fit that category, their

         25  funds were taken out of the State budget, their

                                                            108

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  projects have been extended for forever and most of

          3  the schools are in desperate need of capital funding

          4  and expense funding and so the question that I had

          5  in my mind was all of this SIRA funding, was it

          6  rededicated to a, for another purpose and is that

          7  why the schools in 17 were underserved or in some

          8  cases not even served at all?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, let me

         10  say, I think we'd like to sit down with you and

         11  review exactly what is happening in District 17.  As

         12  I said, the SIRA funding is a category devoted to

         13  shoring up the Children First initiatives.  And,

         14  within that, it is based on need to the extent that,

         15  where do we need the science labs, you know, where

         16  do we need these other kinds of things we're trying

         17  to put in schools.  The SIRA funding was actually

         18  significantly reduced in this amendment because we

         19  have a lot of things going on in this plan,

         20  including inflation costs, which we see all across

         21  the City, I mean, the market is just so hot.  We

         22  wanted to not make any changes to the capacity

         23  commitment to eliminate overcrowding other than what

         24  was generated in terms of demographic changes.  So,

         25  there was a significant reduction in the SIRA
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          2  funding.  But, we tried to make those decisions in

          3  terms of what projects got pushed out based on what

          4  we thought the needs were.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Now, let's go,

          6  with regards to capacity recommendations, earlier I

          7  think Ms. Greenberger had talked about the fact that

          8  you had a meeting with Department of Buildings, City

          9  Planning, you talked about projections, you talked

         10  about birth rates, all of that, you talked about

         11  Brooklyn at the outset and I would imagine when

         12  you're speaking of Brooklyn you're speaking, for the

         13  most part, in South Brooklyn, where again, based on

         14  the hearing, where overcrowding is at its worst.  Is

         15  that a fair statement?

         16                 MS. GREENBERGER: We look at the

         17  entire Borough.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Now, looking at

         19  the entire Borough, in Downtown Brooklyn, where

         20  again, based on conversations that I've had with a

         21  number of people from the DOE as well as SCA,

         22  there's a great need in South Brooklyn.  Downtown

         23  Brooklyn to a lesser extent.  But, there are at

         24  least 25 projects planned for Downtown Brooklyn,

         25  including one big major one, ten years out, fifteen
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          2  years out, twenty years out, who knows.  So the

          3  question is, are we in our, I guess not in our

          4  five-year Capital Plan but in our long term view,

          5  are we looking at all of this development and the

          6  need for schools and for capacity first?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We look at

          8  that every single year.  Every single year the SCA

          9  does outreach to the Department of Buildings.  We do

         10  the demographic studies.  We talk to City Planning.

         11  Every year, we're constantly reviewing that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Okay.  Again, I

         13  know, again, based upon what I heard at the hearing,

         14  which was at Borough Hall, which was chaired by

         15  Assemblymember Brennan, again South Brooklyn,

         16  obviously there's an immediate need but in North

         17  Brooklyn in parts of the district that I represent

         18  there's overcrowding at Prospect Heights campus,

         19  four high schools, one building.  Science Gills,

         20  four high schools, one building, close to Manhattan

         21  Bridge, very concerned there.  There's a concern

         22  with respect to, in Region 6, Medgar Evers High

         23  School, the need for a new building.  So, I spoke to

         24  Ms. Greenberg at the meeting, is it Greenberger? I

         25  apologize. I spoke to her and I believe my office is
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          2  coordinating a meeting with SCA and DOE to talk

          3  about the needs in Region 6 and Region 8,

          4  particularly with respect to capacity and growth and

          5  rumors that Tech is moving to Atlantic Yards, which

          6  I read about in the New York Post.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We have no

          8  plans to move Brooklyn Tech.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Could you say

         10  that loudly for the camera?  Because I have gotten

         11  at least 100 calls from alumni and individuals

         12  living on Fort Green Place who are adamantly opposed

         13  to the conversion of Tech to Luxury Co-ops.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: There are no

         15  plans under way to do that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: At this point,

         17  or at any point in time?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I do not

         19  speak forever, but at this point in time.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         21  That's good to know.  Lastly, and Erin knows this

         22  because I've spoken to her about this, 117, the

         23  closing of 117, which was a SIRA school, and again,

         24  reading about it in the newspaper and not knowing

         25  anything about it.  And no plans or specifics with
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          2  respect to a new school.

          3                 Oh, PreK.  You did talk a little bit

          4  about PreK. Where are the plans for PreK?  Is that

          5  based on capacity and growth?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.  PreK,

          7  the plan always had provisions for two PreK

          8  classrooms in every new school.  We have shifted

          9  that to three PreK classrooms.  I think in total it

         10  will be adding about 143 classrooms with a capacity

         11  2700 seats.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Now, it's

         13  interesting, because this discussion with respect to

         14  PreK and DOE has had an adverse impact on ACS and

         15  daycare centers throughout the Borough of Brooklyn.

         16  As you know, right now, there are 14 day care

         17  centers which are on an endangered list, and it's

         18  because of universal PreK shifting to school base.

         19  We're working very closely with that Agency.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: ACS?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         23  Thank you, Mr. Chair, for allowing me to ask a few

         24  questions even though I'm not a member of this

         25  Committee.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Oh, absolutely.

          3  Now, you had mentioned this shift of DOE is from not

          4  only two PreK but three PreK now.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: When did that

          7  shift take place?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: This

          9  amendment.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And so that put

         11  in an additional how many seats?  Are PreK seats

         12  included in the five-year Capital Plan?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Not in terms

         14  of our capacity.  Those numbers are just for the

         15  PS/IS and high schools. These are additional seats

         16  that are for PreK only.  We are also using,

         17  dedicating $5 million to adding bathrooms in current

         18  classrooms which is a way to add additional PreK, as

         19  you know, because a PreK classroom needs to have a

         20  bathroom there.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Right.  But, the

         22  PreK seats, is that included in the total number of

         23  seats in the five-year Capital Plan or it is not?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It is not

         25  included in the 63,000 new need capacity.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  And how

          3  many seats in PreK are you expecting after, within

          4  the next five years, or part of this plan?

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: 2,700

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: 2,700.  And so,

          7  basically,  --

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Excuse me,

          9  I'm being told we have to double check whether the

         10  2,700 is part of the 63.  I don't want to give you a

         11  wrong answer.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  You can

         13  double check.

         14                 So, in essence, any new elementary

         15  schools or intermediate schools that you're building

         16  you're putting in pre-K?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Elementary

         18  schools.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Elementary.  And

         20  basically, under the plan, it was scheduled to build

         21  two PreK, and now the plan is to build three PreK

         22  per every new elementary school; is that correct?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And when did

         25  that shift from two to three happen?  This year?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: In this

          3  amendment.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  Is that

          5   --

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Before you

          7  now.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is that based on

          9  what the Governor had to say as far as, you know,

         10  and the Speaker and  --

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It had more

         12  to do with what the Mayor had to say.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What the Mayor

         14  also.  So everyone is on the same page, as far as to

         15  try to --

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I think so.

         17  I think so.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Go ahead.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Are we still

         20  talking about half day and full day?  Because we're

         21  talking about different models and we're talking

         22  about different space requirements should we go to

         23  full-day PreK, you need a classroom for 16 children

         24  or 17 children.  Should you go to half day you can

         25  accommodate 34 children.  So when you speak about
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          2  expanding PreK, are we doing both, or one or the

          3  other or?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: When I'm

          5  talking about in the capital plan amendment is

          6  expanding the capacity by 2,700 seats.  We have to

          7  have another conversation when it comes to the

          8  expense money and it comes to the money from Albany

          9  about whether we are going to program full day or

         10  half day.  We, of course, want full day.  Every New

         11  Yorker in New York City wants full day and as you

         12  know, we have some difficulty in terms of the State

         13  funding which is limited to half day funding.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Okay.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON That's pretty

         16  clear. But the seat is not going to change.  It's

         17  going to be a seat whether it's half day or full

         18  day; is that correct?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That is

         20  correct.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: There's nothing

         22  else needed besides what you have in that classroom

         23  in order to shift from half day to full day; is that

         24  correct?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Either can
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          2  be programmed into the classroom.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  Let me

          4  just switch to a question or conversation with

          5  Budget Director Mark Page the other day.

          6                 During the Office of Management and

          7  Budget's testimony on March 6, 2007, the OMB Budget

          8  Director Mark Page testified that $94 million in

          9  DASNY debt service costs are being included in the

         10  State's operating aid to the City.  The result of

         11  this, he expressed, is a double count, since the

         12  State has already received credit for these funds as

         13  capital support.  The net effect of this to the City

         14  of New York's share of Education Aid coming in is

         15  below its normal 38%.  Have there been any

         16  discussions by the Department of Education with the

         17  State of New York an attempt to rectify this

         18  situation.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We are

         20  working very closely with our colleagues at OMB and

         21  we are engaged in discussions with Albany.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  So,

         23  because, from my perspective, and I expressed this

         24  to Mark Page, that if, in fact, the State of New

         25  York is basically double dipping on us, that's a no
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          2  no.  That's totally unacceptable.  That was not

          3  envisioned in CFE.  It's not envisioned by any

          4  member of this City Council or, to my understanding,

          5  the Mayor of New York.  Is that correct?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That is

          7  correct.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  And so

          9  you're having discussions with OMB and with the

         10  State of New York?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  What is

         13  the status of the building aid requests, the

         14  applications being made to the State?  The OMB

         15  Budget Director Mark Page testified that there are

         16  outstanding claims on school building aid.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That's

         18  correct.  We're in the process of submitting the

         19  claims.  We fully anticipate that they will be

         20  addressed.  The State money is flowing, both in

         21  terms of the DASNY money and the TFA money.  So

         22  we're happy with what's happening there.  We will

         23  continue to monitor it, of course.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How much is the

         25  City of New York currently owed as far as the

                                                            119

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  building aid claims.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't have

          4  that figure. That's a rolling process.  I mean,

          5  we're constantly submitting those claims and they I

          6  can get the outstanding number for you  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: One thing is

          8  constantly being submitted and one thing is

          9  constantly being paid.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Um Hm.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And so, I'm

         12  trying to figure out how much is owed overall.  Even

         13  if you take a snapshot in time, let's say, January,

         14  2007, how much is owed.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, I will

         16  happily get you those numbers.  I can assure you,

         17  though, that what we're seeing in the budget

         18  proposals in Albany is sufficient funding to meet

         19  the debt service, which is what those funds are

         20  being used for.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Has the City of

         22  New York, has the City been receiving the increased

         23  building aid anticipated in the agreement reached by

         24  the State in April or May 2006?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes, the $94
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          2  million that the Budget Director alluded to is the

          3  number that is being proposed for the coming budget.

          4    And his objection was that the State was, in

          5  effect, taking credit twice for that money.  But

          6  it's an appropriate amount in terms of what's needed

          7  to pay the funding costs.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So do you

          9  believe that the additional building aid will be

         10  enough to fund the entire State's portion of the

         11  plan?  I think we were saying and we agreed or put

         12  forward a five-year Capital Plan with half coming

         13  from the State and half coming from the City, about

         14  roughly $6.5 billion each.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So do you

         17  believe that the building aid will be enough to fund

         18  the State's portion of the plan?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I do.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  The

         21  Department of Education has now received feedback

         22  from the CECs, the Community Education Councils, on

         23  the capital plan amendments.  Can you give us a

         24  summary of that feedback?  How many CECs, I mean

         25  there are 32 CECs?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Actually 34.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Because you have

          4  the high schools  --

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: And the

          6  Special Ed.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And the Special

          8  Education.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We'd be

         12  happy to.  We'd be happy to.  As I said earlier, we

         13  were able, through the efforts of Sharon and her

         14  team, to actually include 17 projects from the CECs

         15  that they raised as priorities  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: 17?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.  We'll

         18  be happy to give you data on the rest of it.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Approximately

         20  how many CECs gave you responses to the amended five

         21  year capital plan?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We have that

         23  number, do you remember?

         24                 MS. GREENBERGER: I think it might be

         25  11 but we can double check.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: 11 out of 34?

          3                 MS. GREENBERGER: 28 held hearings and

          4  I think we got, maybe we got either 9 or 11 priority

          5  lists submitted and then there were other CECs that

          6  sent in narratives for us to look at. And then we've

          7  been following up with those CECs who, from whom we

          8  didn't hear anything just to make sure they're

          9  included as well for the November amendment.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And you're

         11  saying as a result of the feedback and communication

         12  with the CECs concerning the proposed which you

         13  initially put out your proposed amended five-year

         14  Capital Plan, 17 projects were included in the final

         15  approved amended five-year Capital Plan by the PEP.

         16                 MS. GREENBERGER: 17 new projects that

         17  had not been included in the plan previously.

         18  Correct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And, have all of

         20  the plans that were submitted or recommendations

         21  submitted by the CECs considered or are there some

         22  still outstanding that have not been considered

         23  and/or included in the 17 new projects.

         24                 MS. GREENBERGER: One of the reasons

         25  we had the CECs develop or submit a priority list is
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          2  so they could give us their top five priorities in

          3  addition to their other issues and concerns. And

          4  what we agreed to do was look at those priorities

          5  first for potential inclusion in the February

          6  amendment and we've committed to looking at the rest

          7  of the requests and concerns for consideration in

          8  the November amendment, so we will have an ongoing

          9  dialogue with the CECs about their outstanding

         10  issues.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: In the November

         12  amendment, this City Council must approve those

         13  amendments?  Must that go through the same process

         14  as the amendment that you put forward?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes, it's

         16  the same process.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Are you talking

         18  about those that have not been considered will be

         19  coming up next year?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Some of

         21  them.  Some of them are not really capital projects

         22  and they'll be referred to the facilities division,

         23  some of them we just won't be able to reach, and

         24  will have to be captured in the next capital plan.

         25  But, the process, up until this year, has always
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          2  been that we were looking at these, all of these

          3  submissions after the fact of the current amendment

          4  and so nothing ever showed up until the next

          5  November. What I think we were able to do this year,

          6  at least for those CECs who were able to prioritize

          7  for us, was in that very short turnaround window

          8  look at their top priorities and we were able to

          9  include some of them and I think that's a great step

         10  forward.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Do you have in

         12  one location where those 17 new projects are listed

         13  or can you give us a sheet with those  --

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We have a

         15  sheet we can give you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And with the

         17  breakdown with the CECs that they are aligned with?

         18                 MS. GREENBERGER: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, Thank you.

         20                 The Citywide Council on Special

         21  Education has requested that SCA lists projects for

         22  District 75 schools separately and they have also

         23  noted an increase in class size and the number of

         24  programs for special needs students around the City

         25  and have expressed concern to us that there is
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          2  insufficient space allocated for District 75 schools

          3  in the capital plan.  How does the Department of

          4  Education and the School Construction Authority, how

          5  have you responded to these concerns?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I'm not sure

          7  if we've heard those concerns directly.  I've

          8  certainly heard the issue about space.  What we do

          9  is, in each new capacity project, we allocate 10% of

         10  the seats for special ed youth.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: My

         12  understanding is that in every new school you

         13  allocate 10% for District 75.  That is separate and

         14  apart from the allocation that a school organization

         15  may require to handle non-district 75 children; am I

         16  right?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA: Okay.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Okay.  I'm

         20  being advised that we have an internal task force

         21  that is re-examining the 10% number, so we are

         22  taking a look at that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But in your

         24  initial response to my question, I think you

         25  expressed that you may not have heard these
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          2  concerns?

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well,

          4  certainly I've heard the concern, personally, at the

          5  meeting of the Special Education CEC.  But the other

          6  two items were --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I talked about

          8  overcrowded classrooms and the fact that there's

          9  insufficient space allocated for District 75

         10  students.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes, I'm

         12  familiar with that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, I'm sure

         14  that the CEC on Special Education and Special

         15  Education Advocates will be communicating with you

         16  and with us to follow up on this particular matter.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Good.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But regarding

         19  the, let me switch to the, we talked about, I had

         20  said in my opening statement, the loss of 3,000

         21  seats and I looked over to you and you looked kind

         22  of puzzled and you stated in your opening statement

         23  that you're not losing any seats.  But the regarding

         24  the 3,000 new seats that are being cut and what does

         25  this mean in terms of new school buildings?  Were
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          2  any of these seats sited?  Because you said, "we're

          3  not losing any seats."  My summary of what you said

          4  is that it's being shifted.  But my understanding,

          5  correct me if I'm wrong, that the Bronx is going to

          6  be losing 1,500 seats.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: District 10.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: District 10.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         10  Yes.  That's correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  And, in

         12  District 6, they're expected under the plan to lose

         13  basically one school, approximately 650 seats.  Is

         14  that correct?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  So, when

         17  I'm talking to the CEC members, they're saying to

         18  me, "we are losing seats that were projected in the

         19  five year capital plan."

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That is

         21  correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, how can I

         23  say to them that they're not losing seats when

         24  they're losing seats?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, on a
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          2  District level there are adjustments up and down

          3  across the City.  Citywide, we have a reduction in

          4  the number of new capacity seats but we are adding

          5  3,000 replacement seats so from the plan perspective

          6  Citywide, there's no real cut in the absolute

          7  number.  On a District basis, some are experiencing

          8  a drop in the number of new capacity seats and some

          9  are experiencing an increase.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But now, if in

         11  fact, let's take District Two, for example, and my

         12  colleague, I think, Jessica Lappin, indicated that

         13  she's happy with the proposed changes because in

         14  District Two there's going to be a lot of new seats

         15  built.

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But if SCA and

         18  DOE, with all of the factors that you have involved,

         19  you own those new capacity seats put on board have

         20  only come forward this amendment, they weren't in

         21  the amendment last year  --

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And my question

         24  is, if you are projecting appropriately, those

         25  should have been in the plan either in the beginning
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          2  and/or when we previously amended the five-year

          3  Capital Plan.  If, in fact, you are projecting

          4  correctly.  That makes sense to me.  Am I missing

          5  something here?  Why all of a sudden, this year,

          6  we're having that District Two needs x amount of

          7  seats when that was not projected last year or the

          8  year before, when all of the factors you are

          9  considering takes into consideration what the

         10  immediate needs are and what the projected needs

         11  are?  What am I missing?

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: As you know,

         13  we monitor this each year.  We look at it each year.

         14    We have observed this trend and we were convinced

         15  this year that the trend was bearing out and that we

         16  needed to make the adjustment.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What factor,

         18  though, changed that projection?  What factor or

         19  what factors changed that projection from last year?

         20    For example, did 10,000 people move into the

         21  district within one year, and that changed it?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No, the

         23  projections, we look at projections out ten years

         24  and we, you know, a lot of different factors go in

         25  to the compilation and we monitor it.  What we are
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          2  seeing is trends that lead us to believe that we

          3  have a shift in what our demographic needs are.

          4  We'll be happy to sit down and go through all the

          5  data with you or your staff if you'd like.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But, I guess

          7  maybe I'm a little dense in understanding.  Maybe I

          8  am.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Maybe I'm

         10  dense because I'm really not understanding the

         11  question.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Really, I'm

         13  serious.  Because if you're projecting out, then how

         14  come the projection did not project this?  Was there

         15  something dramatic that made the change where you

         16  now have to amend the five-year Capital Plan to now

         17  increase the number of seats by x amount of schools

         18  in District Two?  That should have been projected

         19  and maybe, that's why, I don't, I'm saying maybe I'm

         20  kind of dense in understanding this. Am I wrong?

         21  I'm just trying to understand it.  I know I'm not

         22  the smartest person, I'll be the first one to say

         23  I'm not the smartest person in the world.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: All right.

         25  When the plan was originally constructed, I mean, I
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          2  think that certainly in District Two there have been

          3  changes in terms of residential development.  We

          4  have been monitoring it and we felt comfortable that

          5  this year was an appropriate time to make a change

          6  in the demographic.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I'm still

          9  missing it, aren't I?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: No, no.  I mean,

         11  you gave an explanation, but, it's, you know, to me

         12  it's just not specific enough for me to grab on to.

         13  You know, that gold ring is eluding me on this merry

         14  go round.  But, let me go back to the issue of when

         15  the projects in the plan will be completed, if you

         16  don't mind.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Sure.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: When will all

         19  63,000 seats or 66,000?  How many seats is it?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, it's

         21  63,000 for new capacity.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: New capacity.

         23  So, when will all 63,000 new seats be completed?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: All of the

         25  seats that we have sited already will be finished by
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          2  2011.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Others, if I

          5  could just finish.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm sorry, go

          7  ahead.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: There may

          9  be, this plan has more than two and a half years to

         10  go, so, I mean, I would expect you would have dates

         11  further out in terms of anything that was started in

         12  the last year of the plan.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay, but help

         14  me project down the road, projections are very

         15  important.  This five-year Capital Plan, I don't

         16  want to be like the previous five year capital

         17  plans, and correct me if I'm wrong, the previous

         18  five year capital plans, were not fully implemented.

         19    Am I correct or incorrect?

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: What

         21  happened in the last plan was that there were no

         22  amendments, people weren't watching every year the

         23  way people are watching this plan.  People weren't

         24  adjusting the projections every year.  And what

         25  happened was, $2 billion in projects had to be
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          2  pushed out of the plan.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, again, so

          4  I'm correct in the previous five-year Capital Plan

          5  or plans were not fully implemented.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  Make an

          8  assumption that all of the projected 63,000 new

          9  seats are implemented, because that's what you're

         10  expecting because you're making the adjustments, the

         11  amendments every year and you're monitoring the

         12  process.

         13

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Tell me as a

         16  layperson, when are all 63,000 seats going to be

         17  completed.  Project it out for me. Give me a year.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: By 2013.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: By 2013.

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I would

         21  project.  If, for something that begins at the very

         22  end of the plan.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And when does

         24  the plan end, as far as technically.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: June 30,
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          2  2009.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So you're saying

          4  by 2013.  Four years later?  We're already into the

          5  fourth year of the next five year capital plan.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It's a

          7  projection!  You asked me for a projection.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Yes, but I'm

          9  just trying to understand the projection.  Please,

         10  bear with me, I'm trying to understand the

         11  projection, knowing that this five-year Capital Plan

         12  ends June 30, 2009.  Is that correct?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And by that

         15  time, July 1, 2009, we're going to have a new

         16  five-year Capital Plan.  Is that correct?

         17  By July 1, 2009 we will have a new five year capital

         18  plan?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  And

         21  you're saying that all of the 63,000 new seats in

         22  this capital plan will be, you're projecting to be

         23  finalized by 2013, which is basically three and half

         24  to four years after the end of the five-year Capital

         25  Plan which will be also three to four years into the
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          2  next five-year Capital Plan.  Is that, am I missing

          3  something here?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Because I

          6  thought that with respect to new schools, to build a

          7  new school takes, average, correct me if I'm wrong,

          8  two years.

          9                 MS. GREENBERGER: It can take 24 to 36

         10  months depending on the size.  So what I think the

         11  Deputy Chancellor was alluding to, if you site a

         12  school in 2009, you have to put that school in

         13  design, that might take up to a year.  If there's

         14  environmental work or any other kind of pre-

         15  construction work or demolition work that has to

         16  take place on a site, that takes time and then you

         17  can begin building.  So I think what she was giving

         18  you was an outside projection as to when a school

         19  that's sited in or located in 2009 would be

         20  complete.  The funds for that school would be

         21  obligated in 2009.  In this plan.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  So, in

         23  essence, it would not impact the number of projected

         24  seats or the amount of money for, assuming that

         25  there is a next five-year Capital Plan, it would not
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          2  be included in that.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM and MS.

          4  GREENBERGER: Correct.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, as far as

          6  school siting, I assume that school siting is taking

          7  place now, and that we're not waiting until 2009 to

          8  site schools?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No.

         10  Absolutely not.  We would be very happy if we could

         11  site every single school by tomorrow.  We are out

         12  there working and you heard the discussion, we are

         13  having difficulty, particularly in Queens, high

         14  school sites in the other Boroughs are proceeding

         15  pretty well and this is an area where we look for

         16  help, especially from elected officials because you

         17  folks do know your territory.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, with

         19  respect to school siting, how many sites are you

         20   "missing" in order, right now, meaning that you

         21  have not found in order to complete your 63,000 new

         22  seats?

         23                 MS. GREENBERGER: We need to site

         24  15,000 seats.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: 15,000 seats?
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          2  And that's approximately how many projects, give or

          3  take?

          4                 MS. GREENBERGER: It's probably

          5  somewhere around 25 or 30.  Is that right?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm sorry, what

          7  is that again?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:  About 25 or

          9  30.

         10                 MS. GREENBERGER: About 25 or 30.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Sites?

         12                 MS. GREENBERGER: Um Hm.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  If you

         14  don't mind, I'm just going to jump around as the

         15  questions come up in front of me.

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Sure.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Sure.  Thanks.

         18  My information is that there appears to be

         19  considerable cost disparities and let me give you an

         20  example and I'd like to have an explanation.  For

         21  example, in the new capacity charts, District Two

         22  gets 3,150 seats for, let's round it off to

         23  $136,000,000 or the cost of $43,142 per seat.

         24  District Six gets 1,103 seats for $109,000,000 or

         25  the average of $98,800 per seat.  What, if anything,
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          2  explains the differences here?  That I've cited.

          3                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, I

          4  don't have the numbers in front of me, so I'm not

          5  quite sure what you're looking at.  First of all, we

          6  put estimates in, we don't really know how much a

          7  school is going to cost until we award the contract.

          8    And, as we've seen, lots of things are happening

          9  in the market that are having an impact on our

         10  estimates.  But, also, it depends on where we find a

         11  location for a school.  We might find a location

         12  that requires a tremendous amount of remediation, we

         13  might find a location  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Such as the

         15  Bronx campus that we recently dealt with?  Is that

         16  correct?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Such as the

         18  Bronx campus that we are dealing with.  Yes.  Also,

         19  a site might be an unusual shape requiring

         20  additional money.  So, there's no hard and fast

         21  explanation for the numbers, it's a case by case

         22  basis.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: For example, if

         24  you're building an elementary school, and you have

         25  prototypes that you deal with, and also you're
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          2  building a K- 8 school, you know basically what that

          3  would cost, overall, I would think, because you know

          4  how many seats capacity each school configuration

          5  would hold, and you've dealt with that as far as, if

          6  this year or last year, you basically have a ball

          7  figure.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We can make

          9  an estimate.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is that correct?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes,

         12  correct.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And when do you

         14  do that?  At what point in time in the process?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, we do

         16  that as we identify projects.  We assign an

         17  estimate, a dollar figure.  When we actually find

         18  the site, when we actually go out to bid, when we

         19  get the bids back, and by the time we go to

         20  contract, that number can change.

         21                 MS. GREENBERGER: And when we design

         22  that number can change, too.  We try to use

         23  prototypes where we can, but again, as the Deputy

         24  Chancellor mentioned, sometimes we are looking at

         25  sites that are very unique in size, they might have
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          2  sloping issues, they might have different demolition

          3  issues, all of which impact the cost differently.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, when I was

          5  giving you the details in leading up to the

          6  question, if I can point to in the materials that

          7  you had given to us, the numbers that I've given

          8  you, I'm sure you'll be able to explain those

          9  differences, is that correct?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I imagine we

         11  would if we take a look at them.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  Thank

         13  you.  In looking at your material, I think that, you

         14  know, the amended five-year Capital Plan proposal

         15  all together that there is more than $22 million

         16  plus regarding the exterior, the 218 up in District

         17  6, the exterior costs for five schools are under 15

         18  years or less, and major, major work, major work is

         19  being done and so it begs the question, what has the

         20  Department of Education and SCA done to ensure the

         21  public and us as elected officials that we will not

         22  be spending similar amounts of money in new schools

         23  down the road.  In essence have you changed the

         24  bidding requirements, um, is the material that

         25  you're using up to par, have you eliminated the
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          2  substitution of "equivalent materials" because

          3  clearly inferior, not equivalent materials, were, in

          4  our opinion, submitted in these schools as a result

          5  of the major, major mounts of millions of dollars

          6  that are being used for schools that are not very

          7  old.  So maybe you can explain that, to me.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It's a valid

          9  concern.  When we began, the SCA took steps, in

         10  response also to several reports that were out

         11  there, the Lehr Report, the Mooreland Commission

         12  Report, groups that had come in and looked at the

         13  SCA in light of what had happened to the last

         14  capital plan.  We looked at all of the

         15  specifications, we had quality assurance people come

         16  in to work with us to make sure that what we were

         17  doing put us on the right footing.  We also, made a

         18  great effort to of outreach, to really quality

         19  contractors in the City.  And I'm pleased to say

         20  that, most of our contract work goes to really well-

         21  known and very solid firms.  So I think we've taken

         22  a lot of steps to make sure that we're meeting

         23  standards that won't require this kind of investment

         24  in later years.  Because you're absolutely right.  I

         25  mean, a 15 year old school should not have to have a
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          2  totally new exterior.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And even though

          4  we're, I mean, this is obviously an issue now and I

          5  don't want this to be an issue down the road when

          6  I'm not a member of this body and I don't want the

          7  members of the City Council ten years from now to be

          8  dealing with this same situation for schools that

          9  were only built ten, twelve years ago.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: You're

         11  absolutely right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So basically

         13  you're telling me that you have put all of the

         14  controls in place where schools that are ten, twelve

         15  years old should not be spending tens of millions of

         16  dollars to rehab a school because it's falling

         17  apart.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.  We

         19  have looked at both the materials that are going in,

         20  the specifications that we're using and the people

         21  who are doing our work.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: The excel

         23  agreement.  And what does excel again?  What is that

         24  again?  I mean, sometimes I'm asked questions...

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Let's see if
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          2  I can remember.  E- X- C- E- L.  I don't remember.

          3  I don't even remember if it means something.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, here's the

          5  question.  The excel agreement was in two parts,

          6  it's a two part agreement.  A grant of $1.8 billion

          7  through the Dormitory Authority and TFA funding of

          8  $9.4 billion.  And what will the  --  what will the

          9  WHAT?  What will the recent funding for the $1.8

         10  billion pay for? In the capital plan, the $1.8

         11  billion grant from the Dormitory Authority.  What

         12  will it pay for in the five year capital plan?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, the

         14  dollars are not assigned to any specific projects.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: The money

         17  all just simply flows through the capital funding

         18  from the City.  I can tell you, however, the excel

         19  money of $1.8 billion, DASNY has indeed already sold

         20  bonds totalling $790 million that has flowed into

         21  the plan and TFA has issued $650 million that has

         22  flowed into the plan.  We work very closely with OMB

         23  and obviously with DASNY on these numbers so that we

         24  make sure that the bonds are aligned with what our

         25  spend projections are.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, in essence,

          3  that money is not specifically for repairs and

          4  replacements, such as roofs  --

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: It could be used

          7  for that, but it's not specific for that.  Is that

          8  correct?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  And, it's

         11  not specifically cited for building new schools, but

         12  it could be used for that.

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It will be.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: It will be.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And what about

         17  playground upgrades?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: All the

         19  same.  The money is funneled into the capital

         20  funding and spent as accordingly.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, with

         22  respect to, with my understanding that the five-year

         23  Capital Plan is for, 63,000 new capacity and to

         24  eliminate all of the transportables.  Is that

         25  correct?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That is a

          3  goal in the plan. As our earlier conversations

          4  indicate, that's obviously a goal that we're going

          5  to reexamine.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And, also, to

          7  make major repairs are at level five.  Level five

          8  are the worst, is that correct?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: The most

         10  critical.  Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And also some

         12  level fours?

         13                 MS. GREENBERGER: I think at this

         14  point we're focused on the level fives.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  So, at

         16  what point in time do we deal with the levels four,

         17  three, two, ones.  No, I'm very serious.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Seriously,

         19  in the next plan.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: But, by that

         21  time, those ones, twos, threes, and fours may be all

         22  fives.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, we

         24  look at them every year.  That's why some of the

         25  projects shift.  Because if something that was a
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          2  three has changed and has become a five, we're going

          3  to have to address it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I think I had

          5  mentioned this before, as a Chair of the Education

          6  Committee and you've heard me say this, that I want

          7  to know, I think the people of New York City want to

          8  know, what would it take to ensure that every child

          9  has a seat in New York City?  That we have the class

         10  size of the average in the State of New York, which

         11  is much less than what we have in New York City and

         12  that every school has all of the things a school

         13  should have, meaning a gym, a schoolyard, at

         14  appropriate levels science labs, chemistry labs, and

         15  music rooms and art rooms.  What people would

         16  consider a normal school.  I guess we want to know,

         17  what would it cost to have that in New York City if

         18  you do a need statement, would it cost us $100

         19  billion dollars to do all of that? Will it cost $200

         20  billion?  I'm talking about a realistic needs

         21  assessment because then, for example, if we have a

         22  $4 billion surplus, we can say that we want to spend

         23  another billion or billion and a half or two billion

         24  of that surplus for a specific purpose, for example.

         25    Or, what if someone had wanted to say, okay, then
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          2  if it's going to cost $100 billion, and we want to

          3  factor this out, not over 20 years but we want to

          4  factor this out over ten years, okay?  And that's

          5  going to be $10 billion a year, for example, you

          6  know, what do we have to do to make sure that that

          7  happens, so that every child has a seat and has the

          8  type of school that you and everybody else would

          9  want to send their child to?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We have had

         11  that conversation before.  We're looking at that.

         12  You may recall that the former City controller

         13  issued a report having to do, I think, with the

         14  entire City and what needs there were.  That kind of

         15  report would have to be updated.  It's a very large

         16  undertaking so we're looking at that.  If I can

         17  interrupt, I have the excel. Expanding our

         18  Children's Education and Learning.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Expanding our

         20  Children's Education and Learning.  Okay.  That's

         21  good.  Thank you.

         22                 Now, in looking at, are you going to

         23  be looking at, in the future, the next five-year

         24  Capital Plan, why do we have to have a five-year

         25  Capital Plan and not  --  are you going to give me
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          2  the scope of what is needed and then put that into a

          3  five year perspective or what?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: What we're

          5  talking about doing, in recognition that having a

          6  five year plan is not a very sensible way to do long

          7  term planning, because at the end of five years you

          8  hit a cliff.  We're looking at the November

          9  amendment that we'll put out this coming November,

         10  and we're looking at ways to add years to this plan,

         11  so it won't be part of the official plan but at

         12  least we'll be putting projects out there and

         13  letting people know what our thinking is and

         14  engaging conversations in anticipation for when we

         15  do have to do the five year plan so we get input as

         16  we go along.  I think it's a much more rational

         17  approach to long term planning.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  Well, let

         19  me just thank all three of you for coming in and

         20  giving testimony and answering all the questions

         21  that have been put forward to you this morning.

         22  Staff will be following up with your offices in

         23  order to, I guess, to receive some specific answers

         24  to questions that we may have felt were unanswered.

         25                 So, Kathleen Grimm, the Deputy
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          2  Chancellor for Finance and Administration; Sharon

          3  Greenberger, President of the School Construction

          4  Authority; and Jamie Smarr, the Executive Director

          5  of the New York City Educational Construction Fund,

          6  thank you very much.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM thank you.

          8                 MS. GREENBERGER: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  And next

         10  we will hear from David Palmer from New York Lawyers

         11  for the Public Interest, Teresa Andersen from

         12  Northwest Bronx Community and Clergy Coalition,

         13  Desiree Hunter from Northwest Bronx Community and

         14  Clergy Coalition and Sandi Franklin from the

         15  Brooklyn Center for the Urban Environment.  Please

         16  come forward.  Thank you.

         17                 Mr. Palmer, please identify yourself

         18  and your organization and you may begin.

         19                 MR. PALMER: Thank you.  My name is

         20  Dave Palmer.  I'm a Staff Attorney with New York

         21  Lawyers for the Public Interest. It's a non- profit

         22  civil rights law firm focusing on a bunch of issues

         23  but the one I focus on is environmental justice

         24  issues, and specifically the siting of schools on

         25  contaminated properties.
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          2                 Thank you, Chairperson Jackson, and

          3  other members of the Committee, who are no longer

          4  here, for allowing me to testify. We represent

          5  numerous organizations on school siting issues

          6  around the City and so, my comments come from there.

          7    I'm not going to read word for word my testimony,

          8  but, I'm here to talk about the School Construction

          9  Authorities leasing program, so, in order to fill,

         10  in order to create new seats in the City, not only

         11  does the School Construction Authority site sites

         12  where they can build new schools but they also lease

         13  existing facilities to become schools. Our concern

         14  is about leasing contaminated properties and this

         15  can happen both with new school construction but

         16  also leased facilities.  And it's happened before.

         17  The most recent example in 2004, the Soundview

         18  Educational Complex, there's PS 65 in Ozone Park,

         19  Queens, and probably the most infamous was PS 141 in

         20  Harlem, which you have brought up before in

         21  conversations about the Mott Haven site.  That

         22  school was opened in 1997 was shut down weeks later

         23  after spending millions of dollars it was found out

         24  the children were actually exposed to toxic

         25  chemicals.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You mean that's,

          3  when you give the number, you mean the former dry

          4  cleaning site?

          5                 MR. PALMER: Correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          7                 MR. PALMER: So, it's happened before

          8  and generally, it's not the greatest idea to place

          9  children on a contaminated property, the irony being

         10  that some of these chemicals can effect the child's

         11  ability to learn and we're building a learning

         12  facility there.  There is a process laid out for new

         13  school construction that requires the School

         14  Construction Authority, when they're going to build

         15  a new school, to submit a site application to the

         16  Community Board.  There's also an opportunity for

         17  the Council to weigh in.  They can vote to reject a

         18  site, they hold public hearings and there's also

         19  sufficient environmental review under the State

         20  Environmental Quality Review Act.  That's, for

         21  example, what happened with the Mott Haven site.

         22  But the SCA argues that its leasing program is not

         23  subject to these requirement at all.  And that's

         24  cause for concern.  So what that means is that if

         25  they're going to lease a facility, and this is what
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          2  Council Member Katz brought up, there would be no

          3  site application to the Community Board, so how does

          4  the community find out?  There would be no

          5  opportunity for the Council to weigh in.  There is

          6  not sufficient environmental review.  The President

          7  and CEO of the SCA said that they do the same

          8  environmental review but that's really not the case

          9  from our understanding.  I've been told directly

         10  from staff that they don't consider it a requirement

         11  to do the same kind of environmental review that

         12  would be required under new construction and I know

         13  at least at Soundview, they did not do an

         14  environmental impact statement which would normally

         15  be required at a new school with that kind of

         16  contamination.  So, it's a loophole that needs to be

         17  closed.  I point this out during this hearing  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How do we close

         19  that loophole?

         20                 MR. PALMER: What's that?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: How do we close

         22  that loophole?

         23                 MR. PALMER: I think we need State

         24  law, State legislation to close that loophole and I

         25  think it would be important for the Council to pass
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          2  a resolution in support of that State law because

          3  I'm concerned that the Mayor's Office may oppose

          4  that.  I don't know, we haven't had a conversation

          5  about it yet but I think it would be important for

          6  the Council, which is shut out of this process to

          7  weigh in and say that they'd like to be a part of it

          8  and that that loophole should be closed.  It would

          9  only take a one word amendment essentially to the

         10  Public Authorities Law to say that leasing is

         11  specifically included, leasing also triggers those

         12  requirements of the site application submission to

         13  the Community Board, that the Council can review and

         14  that there be environmental review.

         15                 I was saying I brought this up today

         16  because the five-year Capital Plan and the amendment

         17  is a 600 page document. In that, they list 30, I

         18  think it's 33 proposed lease sites in New York City

         19  over the next couple years, or perhaps beyond, but

         20  anyway, there's 33 proposed lease sites and this is

         21  perhaps the one opportunity the Council will get,

         22  the notice that they will have that these facilities

         23  are going to be leased.  We don't think that's

         24  sufficient.  We think it should go through the

         25  normal process.  I'm currently reaching out to a pro
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          2  bono real estate firm to do research on these

          3  properties to find out if there are potential

          4  environmental issues.  If there are, we would write

          5  the City and ask for more information.  We wouldn't

          6  have to do this in new school construction because

          7  it would have to comply with the State Environmental

          8  Quality Review Act.  So the solution again is State

          9  legislation, which we're looking into, we think the

         10  Council should support a resolution and there's a

         11  list on Page three of my testimony, a footnote of

         12  the organizations, environmental groups,

         13  environmental justice organizations, local community

         14  groups that support this change.

         15                 Finally, in the meantime, I think

         16  that the Council should use whatever power it has to

         17  press the SCA to simply follow the same rules for

         18  new school construction to follow with the leasing

         19  program the same rules that they do for new school

         20  construction.

         21                 That's more or less what I have to

         22  say.  Thank you very much for the opportunity to

         23  testify.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well thank you

         25  for coming in and giving testimony.  Next we hear
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          2  from, are you Teresa Andersen? Teresa Andersen, the

          3  Northwest Bronx Community and Clergy Coalition.

          4                 MS. ANDERSEN: Good Afternoon.  I'm

          5  also a parent of a Middle School child that's going

          6  to be entering high school next year, so I'm in the

          7  midst of all of this.  I want to talk about the

          8  Greer Partnership.  Their projections are based on

          9  assumptions that many students will not survive high

         10  school.  According to the projections, in all of New

         11  York City, only 46% of ninth graders will make it to

         12  the twelfth grade.  In the Bronx, only 36%.  In

         13  Brooklyn, 42%.  In Manhattan, 50%.  In Queens, 51%.

         14  In Staten Island, 64%.  Greer projects that New York

         15  City will have a surplus of seats beginning next

         16  year, in part because 54% of ninth graders will not

         17  make it to the twelfth grade.  In the Bronx, it's

         18  about 64% that won't make it, 58% in Brooklyn and

         19  49% in Queens.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That won't make

         21  it.

         22                 MS. ANDERSEN: That won't make it.

         23  The unused seats, according to the Greer Assessment,

         24  says we calculated the number of high school seats

         25  needed in New York City and in each Borough by
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          2  adding the unmet seat needs as assessed by the DOE

          3  for the start of 2006- 2007 school year to the unmet

          4  need as projected by the Greer report and

          5  subtracting any seats created through completion of

          6  planned new capacity projects in the year being

          7  examined.  We did this up to the year 2009- 2010

          8  school year.  The Greer Assessment, however, does

          9  not take into account the DOE's goal of graduating

         10  70% of its high school students in four years.

         11  Meeting this goal will require more than 26,000

         12  additional seats in all of New York City, including

         13  10,835 in the Bronx, 5,719 in Brooklyn and 15,793 in

         14  Queens.  Although the Boroughwide figures of seats

         15  needed in this analysis do not support a need for

         16  new high school capacity in Manhattan in Staten

         17  Island, its important to note that there are

         18  Districts in areas in both Boroughs that are in need

         19  of new high school capacity.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  Next, we,

         22  what's your name again?  I'm so sorry.  Desiree

         23  Hunter?  Desiree Hunter from the Northwest Bronx

         24  Community and Clergy Coalition.

         25                 MS. HUNTER: Good afternoon and thank
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          2  you.  I am a Board Member of the Northwest Bronx and

          3  I am also a parent of a student in a Bronx high

          4  school at this moment.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What high

          6  school?

          7                 MS. HUNTER: She's in one of the five

          8  small satellite schools that are in John F. Kennedy

          9  High School.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

         11                 MS. HUNTER: We already have belabored

         12  the issue of overcrowding in the schools that is

         13  Citywide but in the Bronx it is at a crisis level.

         14  The Department of Education says that it will

         15  relieve overcrowding in our schools by 2011 and

         16  achieve an 80% graduation rate based on their

         17  current plan.

         18                 Let me tell you about my daughter's

         19  experience.  My daughter went to school this year

         20  and there were 46 children in and still are 46

         21  children in her French class.  Her Principal is

         22  still receiving students and has been forced to

         23  schedule double sessions of each subject area, clean

         24  through lunch hours in order to accommodate all of

         25  these students, which means that any child that is
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          2  scheduled at lunchtime, does not get to eat lunch.

          3  For my daughter, this will be the second year that

          4  she is not eating lunch at school.  Why?  Because

          5  last year and continuing this year, three of those

          6  satellite schools share the same lunch hour and as a

          7  result, 150 students have nowhere to sit to eat

          8  lunch, so they don't eat lunch.  It's an outrage.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: When do they

         10  eat?

         11                 MS. HUNTER: They don't.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What if they're

         13  hungry?

         14                 MS. HUNTER: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Do they sneak a

         16  sandwich out of their pocket and eat it on the side

         17  in the hallway when they're walking up to the

         18  classroom?

         19                 MS. HUNTER: They can't do that.

         20  They're not even allowed off campus.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Are they allowed

         22  to eat in the classroom?

         23                 MS. HUNTER: No.  They do.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, you go to

         25  school at 8:00 in the morning, around 8:15 and
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          2  you're there to 3:00 and you don't have a meal

          3  break?

          4                 MS. HUNTER: No and what happens is a

          5  lot of children are being disciplined for eating in

          6  the classroom because they have no other choice.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well then maybe

          8  everyone in the entire school should not have a meal

          9  break.  And then everyone who eats should be d  --

         10  Let's get DOE up there also so everyone --  No one

         11  would be able to eat and if they sneak a sandwich or

         12  oreo cookies or some potato chips or a piece of

         13  apple or fruit something should happen to them.

         14  That's fair, right?  We have to treat our children

         15  like we want to be treated, right, with respect and

         16  consideration.  You're telling me that your daughter

         17  has not had a meal break or a lunch period in two

         18  years?

         19                 MS. HUNTER: That's correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Was that her

         21  option or that was her request not to have a meal

         22  break?

         23                 MS. HUNTER: No.  She went to the

         24  lunchroom to eat lunch and there were so many kids,

         25  150 who couldn't sit down, were trying to stand up,
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          2  got frustrated and decided it was better not to eat

          3  than to stand up in that overcrowded lunchroom.  Not

          4  to mention the fact that they weren't particularly

          5  enthused about the food.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And what period

          7  does she have lunch?  She's scheduled to have lunch,

          8  is that correct?

          9                 MS. HUNTER: She's scheduled, well,

         10  now, this year, she's not scheduled to have lunch

         11  because she has a class at lunchtime.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So she's not

         13  scheduled at all for a lunch period?

         14                 MS. HUNTER: No.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Last year she

         16  was scheduled  --

         17                 MS. HUNTER: And couldn't each lunch.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON:  --  Couldn't

         19  eat lunch because there were over 150 students that

         20  could not even sit down and it was so crowded that

         21  she was  --

         22                 MS. HUNTER: She was upset and said,

         23   "Mommy, I can't eat in there.  So, I'm not going

         24  to."

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Are you telling
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          2  me she's the only person that behaved like that?

          3                 MS. HUNTER: No.  Many of her

          4  classmates came over to my house after school to

          5  eat.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  I'm

          7  sorry.  Continue.

          8                 MS. HUNTER: It's an outrage.  It

          9  really is an outrage.  And I have to ask, is this

         10  the way we want our kids to learn?  Being hungry and

         11  cramped into small spaces?  It is really, and the

         12  spaces they're being crammed into are designed for

         13  other things.  I heard mentioned about cluster

         14  classrooms.  Well, in this particular case, my

         15  daughter's French class is forced into a theater

         16  room because they cannot put them anywhere else.

         17  The DOE needs to provide space, they need to provide

         18  the seats and they need to provide the resources to

         19  allow these children to graduate. For   --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: The DOE is

         21  saying they're doing that.

         22                 MS. HUNTER: They are not.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: They just

         24  testified that at the end of this five-year Capital

         25  Plan overcrowding in the City of New York as far as

                                                            162

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  the current plan, there will be no overcrowding. Not

          3  to say that the number of seats, you may have been

          4  here, when I said that we want New York City schools

          5  to have the same small class size, the average, we

          6  want the average what everyone else has.  We're not

          7  there.  We're not there by a long shot.  We're so

          8  overcrowded compared to the rest of the State.  They

          9  said that we will not be overcrowded at the end of

         10  this five years.  Do you believe that?

         11                 MS. HUNTER: No, and let me explain

         12  why.  According to their plan, they're going to,

         13  they're what we call planning for failure.  They're

         14  going to take away 1,700 seats from the Bronx

         15  altogether.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What who

         17  considers planning for failure?  DOE?

         18                 MS. HUNTER: No.  What we, in the

         19  Northwest Bronx and all the parents and the

         20  Northwest Bronx Community and Clergy Coalition and

         21  all of the community, this is a plan for failure

         22  because their taking away 1,703 seats from the

         23  Bronx.  1,500 of which are being taken away from

         24  District 10 as you heard.  And they're giving them

         25  to the Upper East Side.  Then, they're expecting
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          2  only 36% of the ninth graders to get, not graduate,

          3  but get to the twelfth grade.  That's what they

          4  refer to as their student survival rate.  Then, they

          5  are counting on 64% of all Bronx students to fail,

          6  to drop out, to disappear.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: No, I don't,

          8  that's not what they said.

          9                 MS. HUNTER: 36% is their projection

         10  of the ninth graders that will get to the twelfth

         11  grade and so they're only going to build seats for

         12  that 36%.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Wait a minute.

         14  Is your name Miss Andersen?  I'm so sorry, what's

         15  your name again?

         16                 MS. ANDERSEN: Teresa.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Teresa, were you

         18  reading a quote from something and what were you

         19  reading from?

         20                 MS. ANDERSEN: I was reading from the

         21  Greer Partnership Report which is one of the reports

         22  that the DOE uses.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  And the

         24  Greer Partnership is a consultant that was hired by

         25  the Department of Education to do the analysis and
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          2  projections of what is needed in the City of New

          3  York but you're talking about specifically the

          4  Bronx.

          5                 MS. ANDERSEN: Correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So what you're

          7  telling me is, that the Department of Education,

          8  realistically, knows that approximately thousands

          9  and thousands of students will drop out of school

         10  and so they're not going to project the fact that

         11  since all of the children should be projected for to

         12  have seats, that only 36% is going to make it to

         13  what?  High school?

         14                 MS. HUNTER: To the twelfth grade.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Oh, make it to

         16  the twelfth grade, so their only going to build

         17  capacity based on what they are expecting are going

         18  to make it.

         19                 MS. ANDERSEN: Exactly.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And not to say

         21  that all of my kids are going to make it.

         22                 MS. ANDERSEN AND MS. HUNTER: Exactly.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And you're

         24  saying, are you telling me that's a result of why

         25  you're in the current situation that you're in now,
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          2  that the school that your daughter is in?

          3                 MS. HUNTER: That's correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Where she didn't

          5  have a lunch period.

          6                 MS. HUNTER: That's correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Where she

          8  doesn't have a lunch period this year, was

          9  overcrowded last year that she was forced not to eat

         10  lunch.

         11                 MS. HUNTER: That's correct.  In

         12  addition, they're refusing to build two high schools

         13  at the 195th St. Side of the Armory, where there's

         14  enough space  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is that

         16  Kingsboro Armory?

         17                 MS. HUNTER: Kingsbridge Armory.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Kingsbridge

         19  Armory.

         20                 MS. HUNTER: Where there is enough

         21  space to build four schools, which is what we wanted

         22  there, two of which were to be high schools and that

         23  we are insisting that two of those schools, that

         24  four schools be built and two of them be high

         25  schools.  This armory sits in the shadow of Walton
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          2  High School, of Clinton High School, JFK where my

          3  daughter goes, and Theodore Roosevelt.  Each one of

          4  those schools has an average of 1,200 students more

          5  than is supposed to be in the building.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Average of 1,200

          7  more than is supposed to be in each building.

          8                 MS. HUNTER: They have an average of

          9  five schools in addition or as part of the high

         10  school.  My daughter's high school at JFK has five

         11  small schools, the small school initiative, five

         12  small schools, in addition to the JF Kennedy High

         13  School.  They lost space this year because JFK was

         14  bursting at the seams and took back some of their

         15  space from this small school.  So, we are requesting

         16  and asking that they build those four schools at the

         17  Armory and that they make two of them high schools.

         18  And in addition, the students of the Leadership

         19  Institute were promised a high school.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And where is

         21  that?  Leadership Institute is on what?  North of

         22  Tremont Avenue, is that correct?

         23                 MS. HUNTER: That's correct.  And this

         24  high school is now in an annex building behind the

         25  Middle School.  And in a space designed for small
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          2  children, not large high school students.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: It's like a,

          4  earlier I had given like a size 12 foot trying to

          5  kind of fit into a size 8 shoe.

          6                 MS. HUNTER: That's correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: And so that's

          8  what they're doing.  Not trying.  That's what's

          9  currently happening at that high school for what?

         10  What's the name of that High School?

         11                 MS. HUNTER: Leadership Institute.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: That's not the

         13  way to teach leadership I would think, right?

         14                 MS. HUNTER: No it's not.  And in

         15  addition, Garth Harris came down to that school and

         16  told these children to their face that they were not

         17  a priority  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Who told them

         19  that?

         20                 MS. HUNTER: Garth Harris, I hope I'm

         21  saying the name correctly, told these children to

         22  their face.  The children sat in the room with him

         23  and he told them that they were not a priority and

         24  they didn't count, that because they were in a

         25  building they were not even going to consider
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          2  honoring their promise to give these students the

          3  building for which they had originally had a budget,

          4  and they were supposed to get a brand new building.

          5  And so we are also asking that that goes to those

          6  students because that's really unfair.  We want the

          7  1,703 seats returned back to the Bronx and as part,

          8  we know now, that in order for the Department of

          9  Education to meet that 80% graduation rate, they

         10  would have to build at least another 23,000 seats to

         11  even begin to get there. So, unfortunately, as a

         12  parent, I'm quite upset.  I'm passed upset to angry

         13  because I feel it's shame on the Department of

         14  Education, it's shame on Chancellor Klein for

         15  messaging to our children that they don't count,

         16  shame on Mayor Bloomberg and please, do not pass the

         17  capital budget that includes this plan until they

         18  correct these numbers and really address

         19  overcrowding in the schools and especially in the

         20  Bronx.  As a parent it's deeply distressing. It's

         21  too late for my daughter.  She only has two more

         22  years left in school.  But for the children who come

         23  behind her, they deserve a seat.  Those 64% deserve

         24  to be rescued.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: The 64% that are
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          2  expected to survive.

          3                 MS. HUNTER: No, no. To disappear.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: To disappear.

          5                 MS. HUNTER: Right out.  They're not

          6  addressing that 64%.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          8                 MS. HUNTER: And I heard another

          9  Council Member say that we need to do whatever, our

         10  Council Member from the Bronx said we need to do

         11  whatever it takes to bring these kids and get them

         12  to graduate.  So we're asking.  Please build more

         13  high schools in the Bronx.  Please build the two

         14  high schools at the Kingsbridge Armory.  Please give

         15  the Leadership Institute their school in the Bronx.

         16  And please do not pass this budget unless they

         17  redress the numbers.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, the

         19  Northwest Bronx Clergy Coalition.  Did you all hire

         20  someone to look at these numbers or did you do them

         21  yourself?

         22                 MS. HUNTER: No, we hired the

         23  Annenberg Foundation to do the initial research and

         24  then we went to the Public Advocate to show her the

         25  report  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.

          3                 MS. HUNTER: And that initiated their

          4  own study.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: The Public

          6  Advocate study?

          7                 MS. HUNTER: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Which showed?

          9                 MS. HUNTER: Which showed that

         10  Citywide the numbers are wrong.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So you're

         12  telling me that based on the Annenberg Foundation's

         13  research and whatever preliminary report they had

         14  issued as a result of that, you went to the Public

         15  Advocate Betsy Gotbaum's Office and you sat down and

         16  went all over this and they came up with numbers and

         17  projections that show that DOE is not, in essence

         18  they are not trying to, they're not planning for, to

         19  achieve a graduation rate of 75, I said 75, you said

         20  80, 75 or 80%, that they're not planning for that as

         21  far as the seat projections?

         22                 MS. HUNTER: No.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So, in essence,

         24  am I not understanding something here?  Because if

         25  DOE is hoping and planning for graduation of 75% and
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          2  the Greer Report and the capital needs are only

          3  projected on only 36%, how can you reach the goal of

          4  a graduation rate of 75 or 80% when you're only

          5  projecting space for, in the Bronx 36%?

          6                 MS. HUNTER: That's correct.  And

          7  that's the question we're asking.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What am I

          9  missing here?  Is somebody not telling the truth or

         10  what?

         11                 MS. HUNTER: That's exactly what it

         12  is.  Because the gap  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You're telling

         14  me that they're not telling the truth to me?

         15                 MS. HUNTER: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Is that what

         17  you're telling me?

         18                 MS. HUNTER and MS. ANDERSON: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Now, the

         20  Annenberg, do you have a finding, a report from the

         21  Annenberg, can you submit that to the City Council?

         22  I believe we have it already.

         23                 MS. HUNTER: No, that's the Betsy

         24  Gotbaum report but we will get you the other report.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Okay.  We did
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          2  not hear from Sandi Franklin.  Is Sandi here?

          3  Please come forward.  Move over for Sandi, please.

          4  Thank you, thank you, ladies and gent.  Sandi

          5  Franklin from the Brooklyn Center for Urban

          6  Environment.  Does anybody else want to testify?

          7  You're the last but not least. Speak into the mike,

          8  Sandi, please.  Press the button for me.

          9                 MS. FRANKLIN:   --  All the support

         10  that you've shown the Center over the years.  This

         11  may not feel like the proper venue for an education

         12  provider to come in when you're talking about

         13  construction and as you can see from the testimony

         14  that I created for you, we kind of support the

         15  Department of Ed in the areas which either having

         16  problems with, or where we're concerned about the

         17  children.  We teach  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Excuse me,

         19  ladies and gents, excuse me.  Can you take the

         20  conversations outside.  Thank you.  Go ahead.

         21                 MS. FRANKLIN: We have been a

         22  supporter and provider of educational programs to

         23  the Department of Education for a very long time,

         24  primarily in supporting science and math learning,

         25  taking the kids and they learn about where they live
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          2  and how they live here.  But we match the learning

          3  standards the kids need to learn.

          4                 Over the last two years, and one of

          5  the reasons I'm testifying today, we've become fully

          6  aware through the Department of Ed's own

          7  commissioned study about what happens to children

          8  when they become under- credited and really age out

          9  of the system.  We took a look at that and it seems

         10  to happen in the ninth grade.  If the children lose

         11  the credits they need in the ninth grade, then they

         12  are most likely not going to graduate on time or

         13  with the credits they need or the Regents diplomas.

         14  You look at who we are and you wouldn't think about

         15  how profound we have found this.  But we got so

         16  concerned about it that in one of the new visions

         17  small schools where we are the lead partner, the

         18  Academy for Urban Planning, we took a look at it

         19  last year and we got the National Endowment of the

         20  Arts to contribute some funding and took that

         21  funding and took some of these kids who are under

         22  credited and created a Summer program for them where

         23  they could not only regain credits, but they would

         24  experience their City  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Hold one second
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          2  right there. I have failed to recognize my colleague

          3  Dr. Kendall Stewart.  But I want you to continue,

          4  but I want you to relate that to how does that

          5  relate to the five year capital plan.

          6                 MS. FRANKLIN: It relates to it a lot.

          7    It relates to the fact that providers like myself

          8  are coming in and taking the kids out of the schools

          9  to give them the experiences that they need to

         10  graduate.  Because there's not enough space in the

         11  school and I support  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: What do you mean

         13  there's not enough space in the school?

         14                 MS. FRANKLIN: Even the small schools

         15  don't have enough space.  I don't have the statistic

         16  at my hand as they do. What we're looking for, and

         17  you know this sir, because you've been a big

         18  supporter of the small schools, and I appreciate

         19  that, we're looking for 80% graduation rates as a

         20  partner, as a non- profit partner with a small

         21  school.  We're in three of them.  But there's not

         22  enough seats over time for those kids to graduate.

         23  So the story I'm telling you is just anecdotal to

         24  say, we're trying to be a good neighbor and take the

         25  kids, whether they're in the Bronx, and we do work
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          2  in the Bronx, we're in over actually 260 schools in

          3  the City, and give the kids an educational

          4  experience.  They're not going to get it unless we

          5  address this capacity issue.  We're all striving,

          6  certainly in our three small schools, for an 80%

          7  graduation rate.  But if we get an 80% graduation

          8  rate, there will be too many bottoms to sit on too

          9  many seats.  There's no correlation between

         10  education and construction.  That's, I guess, where

         11  I'm coming from.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, my

         13  question to you is, should there be a correlation?

         14                 MS. FRANKLIN: Well, I don't know

         15  about anyone else in this room, my kids went to

         16  public schools in the City of New York and they went

         17  to school in Manhattan and it wasn't an issue for

         18  them.  There was plenty of space for them.  There's

         19  not enough space for all the kids if we get them to

         20  the graduation rates that we'd like them to have.

         21  You don't have to look at too many reports to think

         22  about it in a logical way.  If only 50% of the kids,

         23  and we'll average out all the Boroughs here, and if

         24  only 50% of the kids all went all the way through to

         25  graduation, that means in the twelfth grade, you'd
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          2  have a larger number than there are seats for them.

          3  It doesn't take a mathematical equation to figure

          4  that out because we're not doing that.  And one of

          5  the questions you asked earlier which I thought was

          6  a pretty good question, which is, "what does the

          7  five year plan have to do with the reality of the

          8  kids in the schools?"  Well, I understand the State

          9  demands a five year plan, and I understand that's

         10  important but we're not planning for success.  We're

         11  not planning for all the partners like myself and

         12  the other people who have small non- profits got

         13  involved with the small non- profits so that we

         14  could help create thematic learning and get greater

         15  success rates.  We're not planning for those people

         16  who have gone into the schools to try to figure out

         17  better ways to educate our kids.  If we succeed,

         18  there are no seats.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: One or more

         20  representatives from the Northwest Bronx Clergy

         21  Coalition, they coined it "planning for failure."

         22                 MS. FRANKLIN: I don't, I can't

         23  personify it that way but I would say this: It's

         24  not, it's almost like one hand is not talking to the

         25  other hand.  You know, the Construction Authority
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          2  has, I assume, I'm not part of the Department, has a

          3  real issue, how are they going to get all this money

          4  in and build what absolutely has to be done and, to

          5  your point, deal with the fives before the threes

          6  become fives.  So, that's hard to kind of turn

          7  around and then all of a sudden look at all the

          8  initiatives that they've been taking to better

          9  educate our kids.  Those two things are coming crash

         10  at each other.  I think that's really what's

         11  happening.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: So how are we

         13  going to correct this?

         14                 MS. FRANKLIN: If I knew the answer to

         15  that, Sir, I might be somewhere else.  I think the

         16  Council has to be certainly proactive in trying to

         17  figure out what this all means.  I think we have to

         18  be a little bit more creative as educators and be a

         19  little more honest with each other about what's

         20  really going on and I also think we have to look for

         21  alternative seats for our kids and I think one of

         22  the other Council Members said it this morning that

         23  if somebody is not doing really well, you have a

         24  cadre of kids who are not doing really well in a

         25  traditional school setting, let's find another
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          2  setting that can provide them with seats, whether

          3  it's a community center or somewhere where they can

          4  get the credits they need to graduate and feel

          5  successful.  Not just wait for the construction to

          6  catch up with the educational initiatives.  I think

          7  that's where the problem is.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Well, Sandi, let

          9  me thank you for coming in on behalf of your

         10  organization.  Let me turn to Dr. Kendall Stewart,

         11  my colleague from Brooklyn.

         12                 MS. FRANKLIN: How are you, sir?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

         14  Mr. Chair.  Am I to understand that only 40% of the

         15  students that enter high schools will graduation

         16  according to statistics now?

         17                 MS. FRANKLIN: Well, you know, I get

         18  so many numbers thrown at me, I'm not always sure.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: What is the

         20  real figure?

         21                 MS. FRANKLIN: I'm suspecting we're

         22  talking about 46%.  --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         24  46%

         25                 MS. FRANKLIN: I would guess,
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          2  averaging out, it would be probably.  Borough by

          3  borough, if you average them together.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

          5  If 46%, that means 54% will not.

          6                 MS. FRANKLIN: Right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

          8  And that 54%, we are supposed to, really, plan and

          9  make it so that that 54% be reduced.  In other

         10  words, they'll stay in school and they'll graduate.

         11                 MS. FRANKLIN: Correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Now, that

         13  means then, that, if we have overcrowding school

         14  now, and we trying to make sure that those 54% stay

         15  in school, it means then, let's assume that we carry

         16  it to 70% or 80%, it basically means then, that we

         17  need almost as much space for what we have right

         18  now.

         19                 MS. FRANKLIN: That's right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And it means

         21  then, you have to -- for success, that means we are

         22  short at least 50%.

         23                 MS. FRANKLIN: Yes.  And I will speak

         24  to you as a lead non- profit partner with the New

         25  Visions School movement.  As you know, that's a
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          2  movement that Gates money primarily and some

          3  Annenberg money helps to create a thematic learning

          4  community and make a small school with a lead

          5  partner in three different schools and the Gates

          6  mandates just in their schools, that you go for an

          7  80% graduation rate and a 90% attendance rate.

          8  Well, if what you just said, sir, is true, and we

          9  are successful and our kids come to school almost

         10  every day, and they stay there for four years and

         11  graduate, they will be graduating standing up.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So if this is

         13  a mandate from the State that we graduate 70% or 75%

         14  and we are not planning for that, it means then, we,

         15  as the young lady said, we are planning to fail.

         16  Because if you don't create the space...

         17                 MS. FRANKLIN: I think it's a

         18  conversation that's not happening.  I'm a little bit

         19  naive I guess.  It's a conversation that's not

         20  happening.  It's like my colleague here from the

         21  Lawyer's Alliance.  We're not looking at the

         22  environmental impact because we need to lease space.

         23    And the people are leasing space or building space

         24  are not talking to the people who are working very

         25  very hard in the Department to create better

                                                            181

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  learning systems and better learning communities.

          3  It's almost as if there's three separate things

          4  happening and each of them has their own agenda but

          5  nobody's dialoguing and maybe the Council could

          6  create the dialogue.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: Mr. Chair you

          8  have a hard task in trying to solve this issue

          9  because the space must be calculated as to what we

         10  need and after we decided what we need for current

         11  we have to do what we call projection and I can see

         12  it, in the next five years, needing at least twice

         13  or even much more than twice the space that we have

         14  now.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: You were not

         16  here earlier, you were in another hearing where I

         17  was wondering whether or not I was not

         18  understanding, maybe, with clarity, because I asked

         19  a lot of questions and I tried to get a clear

         20  understanding of their methodology to determine

         21  whether or not they're trying to really obtain their

         22  goal of the graduation rate of either 75 or 80% and

         23  how their projecting seats on not projecting seats

         24  on the fact that as this woman has testified that

         25  New Visions has a graduation rate of 80% and DOE is
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          2  projecting a graduation rate down the road of 75%

          3  but they're planning for seats based on what the

          4  Greer Partnership, their consultant, is projecting,

          5  30 some odd% in the Bronx and other locations.  So,

          6  their projections on what they're planning on

          7  building is not based on what really what they

          8  expecting and hoping and projecting the graduation

          9  rate to be and I'm saying, "something's wrong here.

         10  I know I'm not that slow in learning  As I said, I'm

         11  not the smartest person in the world, but I think I

         12  can understand that if you're saying you're hoping

         13  to expect high school rate of 75% and the company

         14  you hired are projecting future need seats at only

         15  36%, that means about 40% if they make it to that

         16  level of the graduation rate, they're not going to

         17  have any seats."  Am I missing something here.

         18                 MS. FRANKLIN: No, sir, I don't think

         19  so.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON JACKSON: I'm just trying

         21  to understand. So, either someone's not telling the

         22  truth, or I don't understand it, or I just got what

         23  you may call a, what some people call an answer that

         24  really didn't answer the question that I asked.

         25  What do you call that?  A snowjob somebody said?
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          2  And I'm not trying to be funny, but that's what

          3  somebody said and I guess that's what it's called, a

          4  snow job, meaning that you just got an answer but

          5  you didn't really get an answer to my question.  I

          6  really, I really on behalf of the people of New York

          7  City want to understand with absolute clarity, so

          8  that anyone, a parent from the Bronx, a parent from

          9  Brooklyn, a parent from Queens, at either the

         10  elementary school level, the intermediate school

         11  level, or the high school level will be able to

         12  understand that we are projecting our seats based on

         13  what we expect our students to graduate at, 75% or

         14  80% and quite frankly, that's not even high enough

         15  for me because 100% of our students that enter ninth

         16  grade should be graduating from high school.  That's

         17  what we should be expecting, so.

         18                 Let me thank you for coming in.

         19  Thank you, Dr. Stewart.  Thank you everyone for

         20  giving testimony and at this time I'm going to call

         21  the meeting adjourned.  I'm sorry.  Okay.  Let me

         22  call this meeting adjourned.  It is now five minutes

         23  to two.

         24                 Thank you.

         25
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          2                 (The following written testimony was

          3  read into the record.)

          4

          5

          6  Written Testimony of

          7  Randi Weingarten, President

          8  United Federation of Teachers

          9

         10                 Good morning, my name is Randi

         11  Weingarten, president of the United Federation of

         12  Teachers (UFT), representing more than 100,000

         13  employees who work in more than 1,200 school

         14  buildings in New York City.  I want to thank the

         15  City Council for allowing me to testify on the

         16  five-year Capital Plan and the administration's

         17  proposed amendment.

         18                 The governor is proposing an increase

         19  in aid to New York City schools of $3.2 billion over

         20  four years.  This funding is desperately needed.

         21  But I ask whether our school buildings will be able

         22  to support the policy initiatives to be funded with

         23  large amounts of new aid.  Do we have enough

         24  classrooms and other educational spaces?  Are our

         25  buildings safe and secure?  The capital plan and the
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          2  current amendment don't provide full answers to

          3  these questions.

          4                 This is an ambitious capital plan at

          5  $13.1 billion, the largest five- year capital

          6  investment in our schools.  The Department of

          7  Education asserts that this plan will fund

          8  sufficient new seats to eliminate overcrowding and

          9  to reduce class size to 20 in grades K through 3.

         10  This capital plan will also fund critical repairs to

         11  existing school buildings.  The UFT's members

         12  experience daily the impacts of large class sizes

         13  and other issues in school buildings that are

         14  overcrowded and lack sufficient support spaces.

         15                 This plan will NOT fund reduced class

         16  sizes in grades 4 through 12 nor will it fund non-

         17  critical building needs. Let's explore the impacts

         18  of not funding these items.

         19                 Smaller Class Size: The court

         20  decisions in the Campaign for Fiscal Equity lawsuit

         21  acknowledged the importance of school buildings on

         22  educational results in New York City.  The Court of

         23  Appeals specifically cited the need for smaller

         24  class sizes and the need to restore specialized

         25  rooms, such as science labs, if every student is to

                                                            186

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  receive a "sound basic education." Smaller class

          3  sizes should be mandated in all grades.  The

          4  positive results on educational achievement from

          5  smaller class sizes have been documented and

          6  acknowledged.  We are supporting legislation in

          7  Albany requiring that a portion of any additional

          8  state aid be dedicated to lower class size in all

          9  grades to no more than 105 percent of the statewide

         10  average.  Our students deserve the same

         11  opportunities as the rest of the students statewide.

         12                 Educational achievement increases in

         13  smaller classes:

         14                 - Smaller class sizes will ensure

         15  that teachers can address the needs of struggling

         16  students and that all students can get attention and

         17  none get lost.  This is particularly important in

         18  the high schools where it is urgent to create the

         19  right learning environment so students don't drop

         20  out.

         21                 - Smaller class sizes will reduce the

         22  number of students in a building making the school

         23  safer and more orderly.

         24                 - There are too many high schools in

         25  this city with utilization rates reported by the DOE
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          2  as above 125%.  And substandard spaces in many

          3  buildings have been converted to educational spaces.

          4    In reality, the utilization rates would be even

          5  higher if these space conversions were not counted.

          6                 We need to get all of our school

          7  buildings back to a "normal condition" with students

          8  and staff occupying only appropriate spaces.

          9                 If the Legislature mandate smaller

         10  class sizes, will New York City be ready?  After

         11  almost 10 years of state funding, New York City has

         12  not fully implemented class sizes of 20 in grades K

         13  through 3.  This capital plan states that one of its

         14  goals it to achieve this fully.  That is welcome

         15  news.  The plan proposes new seats in 20 community

         16  school districts and in all the boroughs except for

         17  Manhattan at the high school level.  Clearly, the

         18  DOE would not be ready to implement small classes in

         19  grades 4 through 12 citywide.

         20                 I urge you call for the DOE to

         21  evaluate what would be needed to achieve smaller

         22  class sizes in all grades.  Enrollment figures

         23  citywide have begun to shrink from a high in 2000.

         24  The projection is that enrollment will continue to

         25  decline through 2014.  If these DOE projections are
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          2  correct, there should be a number of opportunities

          3  to reduce class size in some neighborhoods. Where

          4  are schools with some breathing room- are they in

          5  areas with high percentages of high- need students

          6  We need to begin to identify now where there are

          7  opportunities to expand smaller class sizes.  And

          8  how fast can the DOE effectively utilize all of its

          9  space to develop a "universal smaller class size"

         10  program.  I'm certain that some new construction

         11  will be needed but I believe that the DOE should

         12  work on a plan now to start this important

         13  initiative.  If funding becomes available for this

         14  program, it will be a disgrace if a number of years

         15  elapse before our students enjoy the benefits of

         16  smaller class size.  That's why planning has to

         17  start immediately.

         18                 Career/Vocational Ed Models:

         19  Improving the graduation rate is one of our highest

         20  priorities.  Students who do not finish high school

         21  routinely have fewer options and studies have shown

         22  the economic impact in persistently lower wages.

         23  CTE has been successful in nurturing many students

         24  who may otherwise have dropped out.  Graduation

         25  rates have been high in these programs because
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          2  students experience the direct connection between

          3  school and their futures.

          4                 Replicating the Co-op Tech model is

          5  one of the goals in the DOE capital plan.  The UFT

          6  supports that goal.  This program is funded at $11.4

          7  million- a sum that is woefully inadequate to build

          8  the facilities needed to develop Co-op Techs

          9  throughout the City.  Multiples of this sum are

         10  needed.  In fact, several multiples of $11.4 million

         11  will be needed to create on new voc ed facility at

         12  the same level of sophistication of Co-op Tech on

         13  East 96th Street in Manhattan.

         14                 Safe School Buildings: Our teachers

         15  provide regular feedback on building conditions.

         16  Deteriorated buildings affect teaching and learning.

         17    In the early 1990s, portions of too many schools

         18  were closed because rooms were unoccupiable.

         19  Hazards including pest infestation, exposed live

         20  electrical wiring and leaking pipes, blocked

         21  emergency exits, damaged asbestos- containing

         22  materials, fire hazards, cracked stars and broken

         23  banisters and non- functioning lavatories were so

         24  bad that the UFT was forced to file a lawsuit

         25  against the Board of Education, the City and other
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          2  City and State agencies in 1993.  Part of the

          3  settlement required annual inspections of the school

          4  buildings and regular reporting to the UFT on

          5  violations and the progress being made to remove the

          6  violations.  The repair methods at the time were

          7  piecemeal and did not address the underlying causes

          8  of the problems.  I want to be clear that that grim

          9  picture is not uniformly the story today.  The

         10  School Construction Authority does a much better job

         11  of monitoring and correcting problems, so these are

         12  the exceptions, not the rule. But with so many older

         13  and aging school buildings in New York, health and

         14  safety and the state of the physical plant is an

         15  ongoing problem.

         16                 One problem that can only be solved

         17  by capital budget appropriations and that our

         18  members constantly and rightfully harp on are the

         19  chronic lack of designated changing areas in what

         20  are designated as barrier- free "regular education"

         21  buildings for special education children who may be

         22  normative mentally but are physically incapable of

         23  using school toilets. These children need to be

         24  changed and the paraprofessionals who offer

         25  diapering and toilet assistance are force to use
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          2  make- shift facilities such as desk shoved together

          3  or a dirty gym mat or the floor.  Diapering students

          4  in this manner is insulting to the child, especially

          5  to a pre- teen or a teenager, is unsanitary and

          6  offers the potential for physical injury to the

          7  student as well as the staff members.  Existing

          8  bathrooms even with handicap stalls are not big

          9  enough to accommodate a wheelchair bound student and

         10  paras or other staff who must transfer the student

         11  to and from the wheelchair.  These "regular

         12  education" buildings that were never designed for

         13  such activities and they need to be retrofitted now.

         14                 Another problem we hear about on a

         15  regular basis and that requires a real funding shot

         16  in the arm to fix is water infiltration.  Water

         17  leaking through the building exterior results in a

         18  multitude of deteriorating conditions such as

         19  crumbling plaster and paint, rotting wooden floors

         20  and window frames, and moldy classrooms.  This

         21  results in damage to plaster and paint increasing

         22  the potential exposure to airborne lead or asbestos.

         23  Microbial growth in building materials can reach

         24  unhealthy levels even after just two weeks of water

         25  leaks.  These conditions result in elevated airborne
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          2  allergenic dust, which when inhaled can trigger

          3  asthma attacks and allergic reactions.  Lead based

          4  paint dust has been shown to cause learning

          5  disability in children and asbestos dust is a known

          6  human carcinogen.

          7                 So, there is still much work to be

          8  done.  Our teachers and UFT staff regularly report

          9  on problems at school buildings, some of them

         10  serious.  Adequate levels of capital investment must

         11  regularly be made to our schools.

         12                 We support the planned investment of

         13  $3 billion in the capital improvement plan in the

         14  buildings and are pleased that the increase for work

         15  on the exteriors has increased by approximately $500

         16  million.  While we support this increased

         17  investment, we remain concerned with the much larger

         18  identified need.  Equally troubling is the DOE's

         19  statement that non-critical CIP projects will be

         20  deferred; some of these are quality of life and

         21  enhance instruction but other conditions will suffer

         22  additional deterioration over time that may

         23  compromise buildings.

         24                 $13 billion is an enormous sum.  In a

         25  system with as many school buildings as New York
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          2  City, there is always need for more funds.  An

          3  investment of $13 billion does not accomplish

          4  everything that is needed.  The DOE must make the

          5  appropriate level of investment in its existing

          6  infrastructure to preserve the space it has now.

          7                 Transparency and Accountability:

          8  These hearings are important to allow the public to

          9  gain some insight into a complex capital program but

         10  we are all limited in our understanding of this

         11  program.  We are dependent on the DOE to develop and

         12  make public the information.  Sadly, there is not

         13  sufficient transparency in the capital plan and

         14  inadequate reporting available to the public. Few

         15  people can plow through the 640 page document; I

         16  doubt that anyone will have all of his or her

         17  questions answered even with unlimited time to

         18  analyze all 640 pages.  Just a few questions we

         19  couldn't answer as we reviewed the amendment:

         20                 - There are lists of CIP projects

         21  that have been deferred; will these projects be in

         22  the next capital plan or will they disappear?

         23                 - The amendment states that there

         24  have been construction cost increases which have

         25  necessitated some re- bidding.  Has that re bidding
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          2  occurred?  What are the result and the impacts on

          3  the capital plan?

          4                 - The plan funds almost $300 million

          5  for science labs and the narrative state that "many

          6  high schools and middle schools have severely

          7  deteriorated and outmoded science labs which others

          8  lack labs altogether.  The table identifying schools

          9  in this program lists one middle school and one

         10  elementary school, the rest are high schools.  Is

         11  this really a high school science lab program?  If

         12  so, what is the plan for the middle schools?

         13                 Additional funding from the governor

         14  will have accountability strings attached.  The DOE

         15  and SCA need to develop transparent report on the

         16  capital plan, including benchmarks for

         17  accountability and regularly reporting on their

         18  progress to meet these benchmarks.

         19                 The amendment provides a partial

         20  analysis only. Expanding the narrative to provide

         21  more information will be helpful.  A real financial

         22  analysis and ongoing project report are badly

         23  needed.

         24                 There must be more transparency so

         25  the public can feel confident that progress is
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          2  steadily being made toward school buildings that

          3  meet the needs of all students.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 1:55 p.m.)
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